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FOREWORD

This report has been prepared to satisfy research needs as enumerated
in Historical Resource Study Proposal KLGR-H-1, Basic Data Study, Klon-
dike Gold Rush National Historical Park. This study has been undertaken
with a twofold goal: (a) It has been my intention to provide Master
Planners with a document to enable them to locate and identify sites
associated with the Gold Rush of 1897 and 1898, both in Dyea and Skag-
way, qﬁd along the Chilkoot and White Pass Trails between tidewater and
the summits leading into Canada; and (b) to provide a documented narra-
tive that, besides emphasizing the significance of the Klondike Gold
Rush, w111 provide material for interpreting the days of '97 and '98
and the struggle for supremacy between the cities of Skagway and Dyea.

In this battle for survival, the focus was on modes of transportation.

In undertaking this project, I traveled to the Alaskan Panhandle
and hiked the Chilkoot Trail, and the section of the White Pass Trail
between the Summit and the crossing of Skagway River. These treks were
tremendously rewarding. Besides familiarizing me with the topography,
it gave me a deep appreciation of the hardships encountered on the trail
by the stampeders in the gold rush.

A number of persons have assisted in the preparation of this report.
Particular thanks are due Merrill J. Mattes and Reed Jarvis of the West-
ern Service Center, National Park Service, for guidance on sources of
information and llsts of persons to contact at Juneau and Skagway; per-
sonnel of the Western Service Center for taking my draft of the Histori-
cal Base Maps and turning them into works of art; Norman Hukill and Mr.
and Mrs. George Rupuzzi of Skagway for sharing their knowledge of local
lore with me; Mr. and Mrs. Peter Pollard of Swickley, Pennsylvania for
their companionship on the Chilkoot Trail; John B. Maloney and Gary Mc-
Laughlin of the Yukon Territory, Department of Correction, for the hos-
pitality extended me at Lake Lindeman; Mrs. Phyllis J. Nottingham, 1i-
brarian at the Alaska Historical Society, for going out of her way to
locate source materials and have them xeroxed; Elmer Parker, Virgil Baugh,
Sara Jackson, Linda Crabtree, and Robert Kvasnicka of the National Ar-
chives were helpful in suggesting and locating unpublished documents.

To Frank Sarles ] wish to extend thanks for proofreading the, final
draft, and to three persons for assistance above and beyond the call of
duty I wish to extend special recognition: they are Henry Judd, Roy E.
Appleman, and Lucy Pope Wheeler. Historical Architect Judd photographed
and evaluated structures in the proposed Skagway Historic District; Roy
Appleman encdouraged me tc hike:the trails, then read the manuscrﬂph and
made a number of suggestions calculated to strengthen the tinal product;
and as always, Mrs. Wheeler, besides taking charge of the typing, read
the manuscript with a critical and talented eye, and made many beneficial
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suggestions. With the completion of the subject manuscript, Mrs. Wheeler
is leaving our Office to take a professional editorial position with His-
toric American Buildings Survey; it is, therefore, with deep regret that

I see her go, and a pleasant, professional relationship dating to 1966,
terminated.

[$3]
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. THE FIRST PROSPECTORS CROSS CHILKOOT PASS

A. The GeggraghchSettlng

The Yukon, one of the mighty rivers of the world, was nearly
unknown to the public until 1897. In that year, with news of the
fabulous gold strike on the Klondike making headlines, persons
throughout the western world rushed to atlases to determine its
whereabouts., Unless these sources had been published within the
last decade, they were purposely vague as to the Yukon's course.
The reason for this situation was simple. Because of its loca-
tion and geographic setting, it was the mid-1830s before the Yukon
was visited by Russian explorers.l Between 1842 and 1844, Lt. Lav-
rentiy A. Zagoskin, along with five companions, explored and mapped
the Yukon to above the mouth of the Koyukuk. While Zagoskin was
deeply interested in the geography, geology, and ecology of the .
region, no gold was found.

Traders from the Hudson's Bay Company had also reached the Yukon
from the Mackenzie River by way of the Porcupine. Alexander J. Mur-
ray in 1847 had established Fort Yukon at the mouth of the Porcupine.
The next year Robert Campbell erected Fort Selkirk, 600 miles farther
upstream, where the Pelly joins the Yukon. Here the traders bought
furs from the Nahane, or Stick Indians, of the interior and forwarded
them to the factories by way of the chain of Hudson's Bay forts con-
necting with the Mackenzie River and Hudson Bay. The difficulty of
getting supplies into Fort Selkirk caused the Hudson's Bay Company
to question its utility.

Before a decision could be reached as to its possible abandonment,
the Indians of the coast, the Chilkoot and Chilkat, who had heretofore
monopolized trade with the Nahane, became embittered. Besides being
bold warriors, they were great 'grease-traders'" and middlemen. Two
"grease trails" led inland from Dyea and Chilkat inlets, and across
the Coast Range to the Yukon Country, the home of the peaceful Stick
of Athabascan stock. The Stick were content to trap, and trade with
the Chilkat and Chilkoot at great disadvantage, exchanging their pelts
and horns for fish oil and sea products of the coast tribes and the
goods which the latter secured from white traders. Russian, Boston,
and Hudson's Bay Company traders had realized huge profits on the goods
they bartered to the Chilkat and Chilkoot in exchange for furs, and
they, in turn, made still greater profits in their dealings with the

1 Andrey Glazunov, 1835-1836, and Vasiliy Malakhov, 1838-1839, recon-

noitered the lower reaches of the Yukon.
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Stick. For the half century that Hudson's Bay Company ships regularly
called at Chilkat Inlet, the traders never dealt directly with the Stick.

Not prepared to yield what they had won by might, a Chilkat and
Chilkoot war party in 1850 crossed the mountains and descended the
Yukon. Fort Selkirk was plundered, then burned. After this inci-
dent, the coastal tribes became more vigilant in maintaining their
blockade of the passes.?

By 1861 Russian fur traders had pushed up the Yukon as far as the
mouth of the Tanama, east of which the Hudson's Bay Company from Fort
Yukon dominated the trade. In 1863 Russian Creole Ivan Lukin visited
Fort Yukon. Although the British knew they were in Russian territory,
they did not withdraw from Fort Yukon until 1869, two years after the
United States purchased Alaska from the government of the Tsar.

These explorations, along with those made in the 1880s, enabled
geographers to plot the Yukon and its principal tributaries. Maps
showed the river heading on the north slope of the Coast Mountains,
within 18 miles of tidewater, and then meandering north and west for
several hundred miles through a chain of shallow lakes. On its course
toward the northwest, the Yukon is joined by a number of large tribu-
taries--the Teslin, Pelly White, Stewart, Klondike, and Fortymile
rivers. Those joining the Yukon from the east drain the Pelly and
Selwyn mountains, while those flowing in from the south have their
heads in the St. Elias Range. The river, after crossing the 141st de-
gree of longitude (the boundary between Alaska and Canada) continues
its sweep toward the Arctic Circle. There it receives the waters of
the Porcupine and changes course toward the southwest. It now leaves
the mountains and flows through level country. On its sweep toward
the sea, several more rivers, the Tanama and Koyukuk, mix their wa-
ters with the Yukon. The Yukon as it approaches the ocean, 2,000
miles from its source, spreads itself across a delta, and finally
loses itself in Norton Sound, within 250 miles of Siberia.

Lonely prospectors, eager to find a new mother lode, in the 1870s
began looking toward the northwestern fastnesses of the continent.
Surely, they reasoned, somewhere in the vast and little-known Yukon

2 John R. Swanton, The Indian Tribes of North America (Washington,
1952), p. 58L4; Eliza R. Scidmore, "The Northwest Passes to the Yukon,"
National Geographic Magazine, April 1898, pp. 105-10T7.
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Basin were placers that could make them wealthy. The first gold-
seekers approached the grim and isolated Basin from three directions.

Arthur Harper, in 1872, with five companions descended the Peace
River in canoes. A veteran of the Fraser River and Cariboo stampedes,
Harper theorized that similar diggings must be located in the mountain
chain that swept on toward the Arctic. After reaching Great Slave
Lake, the prospectors pushed down the mighty Mackenzie. The Macken-
zie and Richardson mountains were reconnoitered, and finally in 1873
Harper crossed the backbone separating the watersheds of the Macken-
zie and Yukon and struck the latter river, where it sweeps to the
north of the Arctic Circle. Harper was to remain on the Yukon for
the next quarter century, but the sought-for gold eluded him.3

The first prospector, and possibly the first white man, to enter
the Yukon Basin from tidewater at the head of Lynn Canal was George
Holt. He breached the mountainous barrier by climbing Chilkoot Pass.
To scale the pass with its scree- and boulder-strewn, 35-degree slope,
Holt had either to mollify or outwit the warlike Chilkoot, who guarded
this route and monopolized trade with the Indians of the interior. Ac-
companied by several Indians, Holt reached the headwaters of the Lewes.
He then pushed on to the lower end of Lake Marsh, and then walked the
Indian Trail to Teslin-too, returning to the coast via the same route.
On his return, he reported the discovery of '"coarse gold,' but none of
the miners who afterwards prospected this region were able to confirm
his claim.

Although the Pacific Coast Pilot for Alaska published in 1883 gives
the date of Holt's crossing of Chilkoot as 1875, Commissioner William
Ogilvie believed, after talking to people who knew him, that his trip
was in 1878."%

Four years after Holt had crossed Chilkoot, Ed Schieffelin, who
had struck it rich in Arizona, prepared to start for the Yukon. He

3 pierre Berton, The Yukon Fever: The Life and Death of the Last

Great Gold Rush (New York, 1958), pp. 7-8. Harper died of tuberculosis
in Arizona, in 1897, as the great stampede to the Klondike was getting
under way.

4 The Yukon Territory . . ., compiled by F. Mortimer Trimmer (London

1898), pp. 376-377; Pacific Coast Pilot-Alaska, United States Coast and
Geodetie Survey, 2 vols. (Washington, 1883), 1, 200, 278; Scidmore, "The
Northwest Passes to the Yukon," National Geographic Magazine, April 1898,
p. 108, Holt was killed by Indians several years later on the Chettyna.
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had a theory that a ''great mineral belt' girdled the Western Hemi-
sphere from Tierra del Fuego to the Bering Strait. If this belt
followed the continental divide, it would parallel the Yukon to
the north. Schieffelin in the spring of 1883 was at St. Michael,
Alaska, with a small steamboat. In this craft he and his company
ascended the Yukon for a thousand miles. The Lower Ramparts were
prospected. No colors were found, and Schieffelin, becoming dis-

enchanted with the mosquitoes and the country, returned to Arizona.>

A dispute among the Chilkat in the late summer of 1879 gave a
United States naval officer an opportunity to break the stranglehold
they and the Chilkoot maintained on the passes leading from tidewater
into the Yukon Basin. In September word reached Sitka that there had
been a brawl at a potlatch in the Chilkat Country, and the leader of
the Klockwatory clan, Klotz-Kutch, had been seriously injured. The
senior American officer at Sitka at this time was Comdr. Lester A.
Beardslee. Here was a situation on which Beardslee hoped to capital-
ize. He called for Dick, one of his Indian police, and placed him
in charge of 30 Tlingit, with orders to proceed to Lynn Canal and
restore order. He was to explain to Klotz-Klutch that the Tlingit
had been sent to keep the peace. In return Beardslee expected the
chief to employ his "influence to secure good treatment to any white
men who should come to his country to trade.'" Moreover, the United
States would be pleased if he would let white miners go into the "in-
terior to prospect the country for precious metals, which, if found,
would enrich the Indians."®

These privileges had never been accorded to the whites by the war-
like Chilkat and Chilkoot, because they feared the whiteman would
interfere with their monopoly of trade with the redmen of the Yukon
Basin. Now with stories being told in the Sitka saloons by Holt of
untapped mineral wealth beyond the mountain passes, Beardslee fear-
ed that unless the Chilkat and Chilkoot agreed to end their blockade,
gold—huggry prospectors would force their way across and there would
be war.

5 Berton, Klondike Fever, pp. 10-11.

6 "Report of Captain Lester A. Beardslee, U.S. Navy, Relative to
Affairs in Alaska and the Operations of the U.5.5. Jamestown, under his
command, while in the Waters of that Territory," found in Erecutive Doc-
ument, No. T1l, lst Session, 4Tth Congress (Washington, 1882), pp. 59-60.
Cited hereinafter as Beardslee's Report.

7 Ivbid., p. 60.
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On February 12, 1880, Dick and most of his men returned from
Lynn Canal. They brought an invitation from Klotz-Kutch '"for the
white miners to come, and promises of welcome." Beardslee relayed
this news to a number of prospectors currently holed up in Sitka
to escape the heavy snows on Baranof Island. A number of the
miners were ready to undertake an expedition into the interior.
The project was discussed, meetings held, and an expedition organ-
ized. Several boats were built. By May 1, the party was ready
to sail.®

On the evening of May 11 a public meeting was held, and an un-
derstanding between the miners and Commander Beardslee reached.
The prospectors, 19 in number, agreed to proceed up Chatham Strait
and to go ashore at Chilkat. They would obey the orders of their
leader, Capt. Edward Bean, and not transport any spirituous liquor
into the Indian Country to barter with the natives. Beardslee, on
the government's part, agreed to provide them with an escort and
letters of introduction. Lt. E. P. McClellan was placed in charge
of the escort,

The expedition sailed from Sitka on May 20. There were five
boats: McClellan's launch armed with a Gatling gun, and four boats
with the prospectors and their gear. The convoy reached Pyramid
Harbor on the 26th. Here the launch anchored, while McClellan
sent an officer ashore to arrange an interview with the village
headmen. Accompanied by several of his officers and seven min-
ers, McClellan on the 27th landed and met Klotz-Kutch, Elquesah,
and Unacoa. After they exchanged greetings, McClellan, employ-
ing Dick as interpreter, read aloud Beardslee's letter. He then
explained the advantages that would accrue to them if they wel-
comed the prospectors.

Klotz-Kutch answered that 'he had lost father, grandfather,
and brothers, and was an orphan, and therefore he gladly welcomed
the white people, for they would be fathers and brothers to him."
Two other Indians now walked up. Rakee and Tawawah were headmen
of the lower villages. McClellan repeated what he had said, and
"told them the miners had come by invitation and they must treat
them as guests.'" They said they were glad the whites had come.

Captain Bean offered to hire the Indians at good wages as pack-
ers. An agreement was reached whereby the redmen were to pack
some of the outfits across to Chilkat Inlet, instead of up the
Chilkat River and across the rugged Coast Mountains. Having fin-
ished his business with the Chilkat, McClellan said goodbye to

8 Tpid.



the prospectors and wished them good luck. He reboarded the launch,
preparatory to returning to Sitka.®

Several weeks after McClellan's return to headquarters, Commander
Beardslee received a letter from Captain Bean. It was "dated from
the headwaters of Yukon, June 17th," and was brought to Sitka by an
Indian doctor. Bean reported his party, now numbering 25, had cross-
ed Chilkoot Pass, and were camped on a lake, 'building boats prepara-
tory to descending the Yukon." So far they had received good treat-
ment and service from their Indian packers.!?

Early in August one of the prospectors returned to Sitka with the
word that the Chilkat and Chilkoot had been angered to learn that
two men (Steele and Hilton), not original members of the company
and not bound by the pledge given by the others, were trading with
the Indians of the interior. These men, however, had been with the
company long enough to be identified with it, and the redmen had ac-
cused the whites of bad faith. He also had a message for Beardslee
from Klotz-Kutch begging that either he come in person or send a sub-
ordinate to take these men away or they might be killed.!!

Beardslee accordingly sailed for Lynn Canal on August 14, 1880,
aboard the steamer Favorite. The vessel was armed with a howitzer
and Gatling gun, and rifles for the crew. At 6 p.m., on the 23d,
the ship anchored in William Henry Bay, and Commander Beardslee and
an armed party went ashore at the trading house managed by George
Dickenson. Their arrival was opportune, because the Chilkat and
Chilkoot were again at each others' throats. Immediately after or-
der was restored, one of the two men, R. Steele, accused of trading
with the Indians of the Yukon Basin showed up. When questioned a-
bout his activities by Beardslee, Steele swore that there was no
truth to these tales. He failed, however, to satisfy the naval of-
ficer as to his innocence, but Beardslee, lacking any evidence to
the contrary, dropped the subject.

That evening Beardslee met with the chiefs and headmen, and re-
solved the difficulties between Steele and the Chilkat. The next
day Beardslee, after demonstrating the firepower of his Gatling gun,
prevailed on the Chilkat and Chilkoot to settle their differences.
He then returned to Sitka by way of Yakutat Bay.!l?

3 Ivid., pp. 63-6k,

10 1pia., p. 65; The Yukon Territory,pp. 376-37T; Pacific Coast Pilot,
1, 377. The lake where the boats were built was subsequently named Lake
Lindeman.

11 Begrdslee's Report, p. 67.

12 1pid., pp. 69-Tk.
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Meanwhile, Captain Bean and his prospectors had cast off on July
4, 1880, and descending the chain of lakes gained the Yukon. The
Teslin (Hootalinqua) was reached and prospected for some distance.
No encouraging colors were found, though years later Steele told
Commissioner William Ogilvie that he prospected bars in a small
stream flowing into the Lewes 15 miles above the canyon that yield-
ed $2.50 per day.!3

In 1881 four prospectors, including G. Langtry and P. McGlinchey,
crossed Chilkoot. These men penetrated as far as the Big Salmon Ri-
ver, which they ascended for a considerable distance. Some gold was
found, which has been characterized as the first paying placers in
the district. The next year, 1882, a number of miners entered the
Yukon by way of Chilkoot Pass, and one group probably ascended the
Pelly to Hoole Canyon.!* The coastal Indians by this time had learned
that the packing of miners' supplies was more profitable than exploit-
ing the diminishing fur trade. Lifting the blockade, they established
high rates for packing.

D. Comments and Recommendationg

In the period 1872-1883 prospectors were beginning to filter into
the Yukon Basin. It is interesting to observe that even during these
years they came from three directions, just as they would in the great
stampede of 1897-1898. Especially significant were the actions of
Commander Beardslee in prevailing on the Chilkat and Chilkoot to re-
lax their blockade of Chilkoot Pass. If Beardslee had been less dip-
lomatic and unable to exploit the Indian feuds, the breaching of the
barrier might have resulted in bloodshed. These aspects of the Klon-
dike story should be interpreted in the Visitor Center,

13 The Yukon Territory, p. 37T; Scidmore, "The Northwest Passes to the
Yukon," National Geographic Magazine, April 1898, p. 120. Bean's company
was trailed by two miners, Johnny Mackenzie and Slim Jim, who reached the
lake (Lindeman) on July 3. Other parties may have entered the Yukon Basin
in 1880. While en route over the mountains, Bean and his men encountered
James Wynn coming out, and by him were warned of dangerous rapids below
Mrsh Lake. Wynn had crossed the mountains in 1879.

1% The Yukon Territory, p. 378: Scidmore, "The Northwest Passes to the
Yukon,'" National Geographic Magazine, April 1898, p. 120.
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II. CHILKOOT PASS IS SURVEYED AND WHITE PASS RECONNOITERED

A. Arthur Krause Crosses Chilkoot Pass
ERBIEHPEERERBBBPDNEBDIEERCDENDRIREIE

Two years after Captain Bean's company had crossed Chilkoot Pass,
the Geographical Society of Bremen, Germany, sent Anthropologists
Arthur and Aurel Krause to the Chukotsk Peninsula of Siberia to study
the native culture. After they had completed their project there,
the Northwest Trading Company invited them to visit its Chilkat post
on the Alaskan panhandle. They arrived on Christmas 1881 and under-
took an intensive study of the Tlingit Indians. Aurel returned to
Germany in April, but his brother remained through the summer and
twice penetrated into Canada.

-
Accompanied by two Chilkat, Arthur Krause left Pyramid Harbor by

canoe in late May 1882. They paddled up Lynn Canal and landed on the

l Dyea Flats. Packing their gear on their backs, they pushed up the
Chilkoot Trail, paralleling the Taiya River, to the summit of Chil-
koot Pass. They crossed the pass on May 28, after "a steep climb
under unfavorable snow conditions.”" A fast descent brought them to
Crater Lake, ''whose outlet flows into the Yukon." The chain of lakes
leading to the northeast was still frozen, and Krause reconnoitered

l the area to a large lake, called Schutluch by the Chilkoot. As this
body of water, subsequently named Lake Lindeman, was still sheeted
with ice, Krause had to abandon his plans to study the Nahane or
Stick Indians. On the marge of the lake, he encountered a company

l of American prospectors, who had preceded him across Chilkoot, and
were building two boats in which to descend the Yukon.

On June 1, Krause and his Indians started back to the coast. Once
again, the summit was crossed, and on June 5 they were back at the
Northwest Trading Company post. Although the Coast Range had been
crossed previously by prospectors, Arthur Krause was the first scien-
tific explorer to travel the Chilkoot Trail.® On a second trip, Krause
ascended the Chilkat River, crossed the pass, and after sighting Kus-
awa Lake, retraced his steps.2 Soon thereafter, he left the area and
returned to Germany, where in 1883 he published a monograph about the
Chilkat.

1 Arthur Krause, "Das Chilcat-Gebiet in Alaska," Zeitschrift der Ges-
selschaft fur Erdkunde zu Berlin, 18 (1883), 34L4-368; Erna Gunther, "In-
troduction," in Aurel Krause, The Tlingit Indians, translated by E. Gun-
ther (Seattle, 1956), p. iii; Morgan B. Sherwood, Exploration of Alaska,
1865-1900 (New Haven, 1965), pp. 82-83.

2 Sherwood, Exploration of Alaska, p. 83.
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B.

L1eutenant Schwatka s Summer in Alaska
553 BBBBID HBRBDDDBRBRHDHOEDBBHD

1. General Miles Plans an Expedition

Brig. Gen. Nelson A. Miles in 1883 commanded the Department of
the Columbia, with headquarters at Vancouver Barracks, Washington
Territory. Miles, unlike certain of his superiors, believed that
the United States Army should be in the vanguard of Alaskan explor-
ation. He refused to accept the fact that "according to the offi-
cial maps, orders, and army register,' Alaska was not the respon-
sibility of his department Neither did he overlook the lack of
knowledge regarding Alaska's interior and its flora and fauna. Ev-
ery move he initiated to secure information on the territory was
motivated by the challenge of the Indian menace and an unexplored
wilderness. As Morgan Sherwood has written, Miles '"typified the
classic situation leading to army dominance in the Trans-Missis-
sippi, brought into play when the wilderness Indian was rapidly
disappearing in the States, when specialized civilian scientific
bureaus were rising to assume hegemony in western exploration."
Miles' desire to explore the interior of Alaska encountered the
opposition of a Congress reluctant to spend public funds in a re-
gion that supported almost no whites. Vociferous proponents of
civilian as opposed to military science were arrayed against him,

as were rival ambitions of scientific bureaus and military agencies.

The deliberate obstructionism of the War Department and his army
superiors likewise failed to dampen his ardor.

Miles' struggle began in 1881, when he recommended a special
appropriation of $68,000 to explore Alaska. A bill was introduced
in the Senate but failed to become law. In 1882, in face of dif-
ficulties imposed by his immediate superior, he visited southeast-
ern Alaska. Alaska, at this time, had no civil government. Since
1877, when the army ended its occupation, Treasury Department rev-
enue cutters had policed the western and northern coasts, and the
navy watched the southeast coast with a man-of-war at Sitka.

This trip reinforced Miles' determination to learn more about
the region. In April 1883 he ordered 1lst Lt. Frederick Schwatka
currently acting as his aide at Vancouver Barracks, to Alaska.

Born in Illinois, Schwatka had worked as a printer and had attend-
ed Willamette University in Oregon. He graduated from the United
States Military Academy in 1871. Schwatka's wanderlust was both
intellectual and geographical. While serving at different army
posts, he studied law and medicine, and was admitted to the Ne-
braska bar and received a medical degree from New York's Bellevue

3

Sherwood, Exploration of Alaska, pp. 98-99.
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Hospital Medical College. 1In 1879-1880 he led a search in the
Canadian Arctic for evidence of the long-lost Sir John Franklin
expedition. Schwatka's journey received considerable publicity
and won for him a reputation as an Arctic explorer.“

Because of opposition to the venture inside as well as outside
the army, the expedition was financed by the Department of the Col-
umbia. Schwatka was warned to exercise '"'strict economy," and to
"consider this duty especial and confidential." The little expe-
dition, Schwatka recalled, "stole away like a thief in the night
with less money than was afterward spent to publish its report.'?

2. Schwatka Goes to Alaska

Lieutenant Schwatka and six men sailed for Alaska from Port-
land, Oregon, on May 22, 1883, aboard the fleet-coaler Victoria.®
As the ship headed down the Columbia and prepared to enter the
Pacific, Schwatka reviewed the orders issued by General Miles
constituting ''the Alaska Military Reconnaissance of 1883." The
general, disturbed by frequent reports of clashes between the
whites and Indians, feared that war could result. He wanted
Schwatka to proceed to Alaska to secure 'all information that can
be obtained that would be valuable and important' to the War
Department. ’

Schwatka was to ascertain the number, character, and disposi-
tion of the Indians; their relations with each other; their feel-
ing toward the Russian Government; and their attitude toward the
United States. Their way of life was to be studied, along with
their method of communicating between regions. He was to observe
and take note of the kind of weapons carried and how they had been
secured. He was to study the terrain, and make recommendations as

% TIbid., p. T7. 5 Ibid., p. 100,

& The Executive Documents of the Senate of the United States for the
2d Session of the 48th Congress and the Special Session of the Senate
Convened, March 4, 1885, 1 (Washington, 1885), Series 2261, "Report of
Military Reconnaissance in Alaska, made in 1883, by Frederick Schwatka,
1st Lt., 3@ Cavalry," p. 3. (Cited hereinafter as Schwatka's Report.)
The men who accompanied Schwatka were: Asst., Surg. George F¥. Wilson,
Topographical Assistant Charles A, Homan, Sergt. Charles Gloster, Cpl.
Williem H. Shircliff, Pvi. John Roth, and J. B. McIntosh, a citizen.

7 Tbid., pp. 119-120. The only hint of hostility in Alaska had been
word of Chilkat and Chilkoot discontent over the threat to their monopoly
of trade routes across the Coast Range into the Yukon,
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to the best means of employing and sustaining a military force in
the territory, if the occasion should arise. He would make "es-
pecial inquiry as to the kind and extent of the native grasses'
capable of subsisting horses and mules, and the character of the
climate, "especially inland, the severity of the winters, and any
other information that would be important to the military service."

The Indians were to be assured that the United States looked
upon them as friends, and in '"no case' would the patrol penetrate
a region where there was danger of provoking hostilities. Schwatka
was to view the mission as confidential, and he would forward to
General Miles his reports, maps, and field notes. 8

En route up the Inland Passage, the ship stopped at a number
of points to discharge and take cargo. June 2 found Victoria an-
chored in Pyramid Harbor. Here Lieutenant Schwatka found two re-
cently erected salmon canneries. The explorers disembarked at the
large cannery of the Northwest Trading Company, where they were
welcomed by Superintendent Carl Spuhn.

His instructions directed him to complete the reconnaissance
of one region before proceeding to another, so Lieutenant Schwatka
decided to explore the Yukon Valley first, as he deemed it the most
important district in Alaska., Moreover, it was largely unexplored
in a military sense. The difficulties to be encountered in ascen-
ding the mighty Yukon from its mouth were well-known, consequently
Schwatka determined to descend it from its source. Strange as it
seems, he was not troubled by the thought that his patrol would be
crossing hundreds of miles of Canadian territory, without first
seeking permission through the State Department. He knew there
were several passes through the Coast Range providing access from
tidewater to the headwaters of the Yukon. It was known that Byrnes,
a prospector, employed by the Western Union Telegraph Company in
1867 had reconnoitered the Taku River.? Schwatka was familiar with
the explorations of Krause. He knew that Krause in 1882 had re-
connoitered the trails ascending the Chilkat and Taiya valleys and
had reached the headwaters of the Yukon.l?

8 Miles to Schwatka, April 7, 1883, found in ibid., pp. 119-120.

3 Ibid., pp. 11-12. The success of the Atlantic cable had caused
the Western Union Telegraph Company to abandon its plans for a tele-—
graph to connect the Western and Eastern Hemispheres by way of Bering
Strait.

10 proceedings of the Bremen Geographical Society for 1882.
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The Chilkat told Schwatka that it took about 12 days to make
the Chilkat-Takhini portage. But once on the Takhini, they said,
no important falls or rapids were encountered this side of the
Yukon. There was also a trail leading from the headwaters of the
Chilkat to Yukatat Bay that took 15 to 18 days to travel. These
two trails were the only ones used by the Chilkat in their tra-
vels to and from the interior,l!

According to the Chilkat, the Chilkoot Trail ascended the Taiya
River to its source and crossed the Coast Range to one of the sour-
ces of the Yukon. The portage between tidewater and a navigable
tributary of the Yukon reportedly required three or four days. Sev-
eral canyons, rapids, and cascades were said to obstruct the river
below the head of navigation. Lieutenant Schwatka, after consider-
able thought on the subject, determined to reach the Yukon by way
of the Chilkoot Trail,

Superintendent Spuhn briefed Schwatka on the recent history of
this route. Until 1880 and the intervention of Commander Beardslee,
the Chilkoot had refused to permit the Stick Indians of the inte-
rior to cross the pass with furs and trade goods, as they monop~
olized the packing trade for their own profit. Small numbers of
prospectors had followed the route pioneered in 1878 by George Holt.
As yet, none of them had struck it rich.l2

Schwatka learned from Spuhn that the Chilkat and Chilkoot pack-
ers were accustomed to carrying 100 pounds. A miner boasted to
Schwatka that he had employed one that carried 160 pounds. The
established fee for transporting a 100-pound pack over the Chil-
koot Trail was from $9 to $12. The Indians were not about to give
the army cut rates, despite the large quantity of supplies needed,
about two tons. Superlntendent Spuhn unsuccessfully sought to
assist Schwatka in bargaining with the natives. But after he had
crossed the pass, Schwatka was compelled to admit that he "in no
way blamed the Indians for their stubbornness in maintaining what
seemed at first to be exorbitant, and only wondered that they would
do this extremely fatiguing labor so reasonably."!3

3. Across Chilkoot Pass

There was a delay at Pyramid Harbor necessitated by the death
of the chief of the Crow clan. Several days were spent by the
Chilkat in preparing for the funeral. After the body was burned
on a pyre, the explorers left Pyramid Harbor in a large skiff and
nine or ten canoes towed by the Northwest Trading Company's launch

Loutse. The skiff transported the equipment, while 40 to 45 Indians,

-‘----’----
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Schwatka's Report, p. 13. 12 1bid. 13 71bid., pp. 13-1b.
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who had been engaged as packers, rode in the canoes. Rounding
Point Seduction, the convoy turned into Chilkoot Inlet. A brief
stop was made at Haines Mission.l"

At Haines Mission the expedition was reinforced by four or five
more canoes, manned by 20 Chilkoot, and at 2:15 p.m. Louisge cast
off. Shortly afterwards, the fleet sailed into Taiya Inlet, and
at 6 p.m. the head of the inlet, at the mouth of Taiya River, was
reached. The gear and supplies were lightered ashore, and Louise
returned to Pyramid Harbor.

Lieutenant Schwatka, seeing that there were extensive tidal
flats at the head of the inlet, had the equipment embarked in can-
oes and taken up the Taiya River about one mile. Here they were
landed, and a camp established a short distance below a village
belonging to the Stick.!>

When he reconnoitered the area, Schwatka saw that Taiya Valley
was about one-half to three-quarters of a mile across, and bound-
ed by steep mountains rising to a height of over 5,000 feet. The
river bed and valley were filled with "great bars of boulders, sand
and coarse gravel, with here and there groves of poplars, willows
of several varieties, and birch." The Taiya River was swift, aver-
aging from 30 to 75 yards in width, to the head of canoe navigation
at a cascade eight miles from its mouth. It frequently divided in-
to channels, and there were places where it could be forded.

The journey across the Coast Mountains to the head of naviga-
tion would be made in stages. Most of the expedition's gear was
"tracked" in canoes from Camp No. 1 to the cascade, six miles up
the Taiya. Indians not having canoes were ''compelled to at once
commence carrying their loads upon their backs, their ungenerous
companions not allowing them the use of their canoes.'" Moreover,
several of them even refused to ferry their loads across the stream,
thus compelling the packer to find a ford, or to scramble over a
rugged spur. In cases of sickness of companions, they demanded a
share of his pay for any help given. Unlike the Chilkoot and the
Chilkat, the Stick Indians cheerfully assisted one another. !©

1% 1pid., p. 14. Lieutenant Schwatka had walked across the isthmus
separating Chilkat and Chilkoot inlets. The area was wooded, while the
grass bounding the trail was four to five feet in height. The "innumer-
able flowers in bloom looked very much unlike the general idea of Alaska,
until the mountains that surround these little valleys were brought in
view with their tops and gulches buried in snow and glacier ice.”

15 Tbid. Several Stick Indians were employed by Schwatka as packers.

16 Tbid., pp. 15-16. Camp No. 2 was located one mile below the cas—
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To avoid having to wade the frigid Taiya, the whites called on
the extra packers to carry them across on their shoulders, their
"legs being more used to the ice-water just from the glacier beds
on the hill-tops." After stopping for the night, most of the In-
dians fell to gambling '"at a game called la-hell, in which there
was a free interchange of dirty clothing and prospective wealth
accruing from this particular trip." Their "orgies and rude sav-
age songs" often lasted past midnight.l”

About two and one-half miles above the head of navigation, the
explorers reached the confluence of Nourse River with the Taiya.
The Nourse, which came in from the west, headed in a picturesque
alpine valley. A short distance above the mouth of the Nourse,
Camp No. 3 was pitched near some perpendicular blocks of basalt
rock, and in view of Mount Hoffman Glacier. (During the Klondike
Gold Rush, Canyon City was located at the site of Camp No. 3.)

So far, the trip up from tidewater had been easy. Satisfied that
this was an indication of what was ahead, Schwatka concluded that
his packers' high charges were "exorbitant and the portage very
easy to be made."18

now left the head of Taiya Valley, ascended the narrow canyon, and
passed over the spurs east of Taiya River. Occasionally, the path
would debouch into the stream-bed, wherever it was wide enough to
provide a mile or two of walking and wading, and then strike back
over the mountain sides. At places, it would be easy for an inex-
perienced traveler to lose the trail, where it passed for long dis-
tances over ''great winrows and avalanches of broken bowlders and
shattered stones varying in size from a person's head to the size
of a small house." Willows and birches embedded in ''the bowlder
barricades' warned travelers to be on the watch for avalanches.

It took the explorers 12 hours to cover the six miles between
the mouth of the canyon and Stonehouse, where they camped for the
night. The Stonehouse was a jumbled mass of huge boulders, ''so
thrown together that the natives" could crawl "under them and find
sleeping places without being in contact with the snow." The dis-
tance traveled on June 10, Schwatka likened to 30 miles over an
ordinary road. The final quarter of a milewas across snow banks, 19

Soon after halting, the Indians sighted a mountain goat on Mount
Hoffman to the west. Although the goat was several thousand feet
above them, one of the packers started after it. He passed around

cade at the head of navigation.

17 1pia., p. 16. 18 Tbids, pp. 16-17. 19 mv1d., pp. 16-17.
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‘ The party moved out on June 10, 1883, at 7:30 a.m. The trail
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the goat, but as he stalked the game, the animal became startled

and moved off. The packer then gave chase, pursuing down past the
house, and up the steep eastern slope. This incident caused Lieu-
tenant Schwatka to credit the Indians with superhuman endurance.?9

Schwatka had his men up and on the trail by 5 a.m. on June 11.
So steep was the grade that five hours were required to reach the
summit of Chilkoot Pass, which Schwatka estimated at 4,100 feet
above sea level. He reported that in two miles, the party climbed
3,100 feet. Once again, he marveled at his packers. Not averag-
ing more than 140 pounds, they had carried 100 pounds up "a precip-
itous mountain, alternately on steeply inclined glacial snow and
treacherous rounded bowlders, where a misstep . . . could have
hurled them hundreds of feet down the slope or precipices." To
make their way, they grasped at stunted branches of trailing vines
and roots. In places, they had to scramble on hands and knees.
They used crude alpenstocks, cut in the Taiya Valley, to steady
themselves in dangerous places.?!

4. Down the Yukon to St. Michael

After leaving the summit, called Perrier Pass by Schwatka, the
explorers descended to Crater Lake. The Indians told the whites
that this lake was where the Yukon headed. Although it was June
11, Crater Lake was frozen over and the ice covered with snow.
Pushing on, the party made camp at 7 p.m. on a beautiful Alpine
lake, which Schwatka called Lake Lindeman in honor of Dr. Linde-
mann, the Secretary of the Bremen Geographical Society. Fifteen
miles, about eight of which were over the snow, had been traveled
since daybreak. In places before reaching Lake Lindeman, snow
bridges over the stream flowing out of Crater Lake had tumbled,
revealing perpendicular banks of snow, some of which were as much
as 25 feet high.22

Schwatka now paid off most of his packers. Many of them re-
turned that night to the Stonehouse, because at this latitude, at
this season, it was light enough at midnight to follow the trail.?3

20

21

Ibid., p. 1T.

Ibid., p. 18. The summit of Chilkoot Pass is about 3,600 feet

above sea level, not 4,100 as estimated by Schwatka. The difference in
elevation between the Stonehouse and the summit is about 1,400 feet, not
3,100 as reported by the lieutenant.

22

Frederick Schwatka, A4 Summer in Alaska (St. Louis, 189k4), p. 90.

‘Usage has corrupted the spelling of the name, as Lake Lindeman is the
accepted geographic name.

23

Sehwatka's Report, p. 20.
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On June 13, 1883, the party began the construction of a raft
about 15 by 40 feet, with decks built up fore and aft. Spaces
were left at the ends for bow and stern oars. The means of loco-
motion, besides the current, were side oars and a sail fashioned
from a wall tent. The craft, christened Resolute, drew 20 inches
of water. On the 16th the explorers cast off and shot the rapids
on the stream leading into the next lake, named by Schwatka Lake
Bennett, to honor James Gordon Bennett of the New York Herald.

Resolute navigated the Miles Canyon rapids on July 2 with only
minor damage. She carried the explorers down the Yukon and its
tributaries to Nukluklayet by August 6, a trip of about 1,300 miles.
At Nukluklayet, Schwatka secured a small-decked schooner to trans-
port the group to Anvik, where the Alaska Commercial Company steam-
er Yukon took the schooner in tow to St. Michael. Passage was se-
cured there on August 30 for San Francisco aboard the schooner Leo.?“

|

' (

. Canadian authorities were understandably disturbed to learn
that Lieutenant Schwatka, without first securing permission, had
reconnoitered territory belonging to the British Empire. To add
insult to injury, Schwatka had named a number of geographic fea-
tures over which the United States had no jurisdiction. Despite

' opposition, many of these place names came to be accepted.Z’

5. Comments and Recommendations

Although Schwatka used the expedition to promote himself and
the publication of a book Exploring the Great Yukon descriptive
of his experiences, it helped focus the attention of many Ameri-
cans on Alaska and the Yukon. The long-range significance of
Schwatka's reconnaissance was that it provided the first survey
of one of the principal routes followed by the Klondike stamped-
ers in 1897 and 1898.

2% Sherwood, Exploration of Alaska, pp. 100-101. Miles Canyon was
named by Schwatka in honor of his immediate superior and sponsor of the
expedition, General Miles.

25 gchwatka had nemed Chilkoot Pagss, Perrier Pass for Col. J. Perrier
of the French Geographical Society.
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C. Ogilvie Runs a Line Across Chilkoot Pass
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1. Plans Are Made to Survey the Boundary

The first effort to survey the United States-Canadian boundary
was made in 1887, and resulted in the next official reconnaissance
of Chilkoot Pass and the discovery of White Pass. This survey was
triggered by informal meetings between William Dall of the United
States Geological Survey and George M. Dawson of the Canadian Geol-
ogical Survey to discuss the problem of marking the international
boundary. Dall and Dawson, like the State Department in Washing-
ton and the Ministry of External Affairs in Ottawa, differed on
interpretation of applicable treaties insofar as they pertained
to the Alaskan panhandle. Dawson felt any plan not allowing Can-
ada access to the ocean would be unacceptable, while Dall held
that such a cession was undesirable and not likely to be consider-
ed seriously in the United States.

The two scientists, however, were in general agreement on the
methods to be employed in the establishment of a line. Dall, a
partisan of civilian control, claimed that the entire line from
Portland Inlet to the Chilkat could be run in two or three sea-
sons by about four parties, for not more than $125,000, provided
the methods employed by the United States Geological Survey and
the United States Coast and Geodetic Survey, or the Canadian Geol-
ogical Survey, were employed. If undertaken by military methods
and personnel, he forecast, the work would take twice as long and
cost at least half a million dollars.

Anglo-American interests had clashed at this time over the
hunting of seals for furs in the Bering Sea. The seal question
was more critical, and fears were voiced that'the two controver-
sies, combined, could cause a diplomatic break. In 1889, before
the seal issue reached a critical phase, Congress responded to
President Grover Cleveland's request for action, and passed an
appropriation of $20,000 for the boundary survey. Coast and Geo-
detic teams took the field.Z2®

Canadian survey parties by this time were already in the field.
By 1887 the Geological and Natural History Survey of Canada were
ready to move. Until the late 1880s, Canada had neglected the
northwest. It was the expeditions of Krause and Schwatka that
moved Dawson to urge an investigation of the region. The imme-
diate necessity for exploratory work, however, arose from the in-
creasing number of prospectors in the area.

26

Sherwood, Exploration of Alaska, pp. 136-137.
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Thomas White, Canada's Minister of the Interior, in 1887 author-
ized the organization of an expedition to explore the region of
the Northwest Territories drained by the Yukon River. George Daw-
son would be in charge of the threefold undertaking. He and J.
McEvoy were to run a line from the Cassiar District in northern
British Columbia, via the Dease, upper Liard, and Frances rivers
to the source of the Pelly, and down that stream to the Yukon.
R. G. McConnell would survey the Stikine and lower Liard, while
a third group led by William Ogilvie was charged with running a
traverse from Pyramid Island in Chilkat Inlet, over Chilkoot Pass,
and to make ''as definite a location as possible of the 141st Mer-
idian on the Yukon River.'" This was the first direct attempt to
fix with any degree of precision the boundary line. At this time,
1887, the only reliable knowledge of the upger reaches of the Yukon
available were Schwatka's reports and maps.?’

2. Ogilvie Reaches Lynn Canal

William Ogilvie was destined to spend many years on the Yukon,
and this was the first of many important assignments that he was
to discharge to the satisfaction of both his superiors and the
public. He and his party reached Haines Mission from Victoria,
by way of Juneau, aboard the sidewheel steamer Ancon, May 24. There
he received bad news. He was told there had been trouble between
the Indians and prospectors at the mouth of Stewart River. Four
Indians and two whites had been killed. Infuriated, the Sticks
were said to have taken position commanding Miles Canyon, prepared
to harass all whites en route to the Yukon. Ogilvie sought to
question the miner who had told this story, but he was told that
he had gone on to Juneau.

Subsequently, Ogilvie learned that the prospector.in question
had had difficulty with his fellow miners and had been ordered in
mid-winter to leave the region. This was considered the equiva-
lent of a death sentence. He, however, successfully challenged
the elements, and, starting in February, reached the coast in May .28

27 William Ogilvie, Early Days on the Yukon and The Story of its Gold
Fields (Ottawa, 1913), pp. 36-3T; George Dawson, "Historical Notes on
Events in the Yukon District, Northwest Territories," Review of Histor-
ical Publications Relating to Canada, 2 (1897), pp. 182-183; Dawson, "Re-
port of an Exploration in the Yukon District," p. 6

28 yilliem Ogilvie, The Klondike Official Guide: Canada's Great Gold
Field, The Yukon Distriet (Buffalo, 1898), pp. 10, 14.



For 72 hours following the landing at Chilkat, the rain poured
down. Ogilvie and his people took advantage of this situation to
get their instruments, baggage, and provisions ready for the trip
to the head of Taiya Inlet. The gear was loaded into two boats,
rented from a trader, and towed the 20 miles to the head of the

Ogilvie saw that Taiya Inlet had been formed by glacial action.
Its sides were steep and smooth which, along with the prevailing
landward blowing wind, made it very difficult to get ashore at
Dyea, as the Indian village at that point was called. Here they
found 138 Indians and three whites--two men and one woman. The

whites were Capt. and Mrs. John J. Healy and George Dickson. Captain

Healy, a fabulous character with a colorful career as boss of one
of the whiskey forts on the Montana-Canadian border and sheriff

uf Chouteau Country, had gone into business with Dickson and had
established a trading post at Dyea. They were engaged in the In-

dian trade and supplied miners bound across Chilkoot Pass. As such,

they had considerable influence with the Chilkoot and Chilkat.

Preparations were now made for getting the supplies and instru-

ments over the Coast Mountains to the head of Lake Lindeman. Comdr.

J. S. Newell of Pinta assisted Ogilvie in his negotlations with the
Chilkoot. The naval officer sought to get the natives to be rea-
sonable in their demands, but they refused to pack to the lake for
less than $20 per hundred pounds. Having learned that the expedi-
tion was sponsored by the Canadian government, the second ranking
chief of the Chilkoot invoked ''some memories of an old quarrel
which the tribe had with the English many years ago, in which an
uncle of his was killed.'" He accordingly argued that the survey-
ors should pay for his uncle's death '"by being charged an exorbi-

Commander Newell explained to the Chilkoot that Ogilvie had
permission from 'the Great Father at Washington to pass through
his country safely, that he would see that I did so, and if the
Indians interfered . . . they would be punished." After much
talk, the Chilkoot agreed to carry the gear across the summit for
$10 per hundredweight. Ogilvie considered he had made a bargain,
as the route to and across the summit involved hard climbing.30

20
inlet by the United States gunboat Pinta.??
tant price for . . . packing."

29 TIbid., pp. 1lk-15.

30

Ibid., pp. 16-18; Ogilvie, Early Days on the Yukon, pp. 39-40.
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3. ggjlvie Surveys the Pass

On June 6, 1887, 120 Chilkoot packers--men, women, and chil-
dren--were turned out and started for the summit. They were ac-
companied by two of Ogilvie's men to insure that the supplies
were deposited at the agreed cache. Each carrier, when given his
pack, was handed a ticket on which was inscribed its contents, its
weight, and the sum the packer was to receive. They were caution-
ed that they would have to produce these certificates on deliver-
ing their packs. At the Crater Lake cache, as each pack was de-
livered, one of the surveyors receipted and returned the ticket.3!

Meanwhile, Ogilvie and the rest of his party commenced their
survey. By the time the packers returned, the surveyors had reach-
ed the mouth of Taiya Canyon, eight miles above tidewater. The
Indians entered camp early in the morning before Ogilvie was up,
and for about ''two hours there was quite a hubub.'" While paying
them off, Ogilvie found that few of the Chilkoot ''would give any
Indian name, nearly all, after a little reflection, giving some
common English name," such as Jack, Tom, Joe, Charley, etc. Some
protested that they had lost their tickets. Three or four who
had advanced this claim presented themselves again for payment,
producing first the receipted ticket, afterwards the one they
claimed to have lost, and demanding pay for both. They feigned
surprise when caught in their duplicity.3?

Proceeding up the Taiya, Ogilvie established a number of sta-
tions, from which he took the angles of elevation of the preced-
ing stations. From these angles he was able to compute the eleva-
tion of Chilkoot Pass as 3,502 feet above sea level. 33 An aneroid
was employed to compute the descent from the pass to Lake Lindeman.
The lake, he found, had an elevation of 2,141, On the south side
of Ch11koot Pass, the timber line, accordlng to a barometer read-
ing, was about 2,300 feet above sea level, while on the north side
it was about 2, 500 feet.3% This difference he attributed to several
factors: (a) the sun, because of the depth of the Alpine valley,

31
32

Ogilvie, Klondike Official Guide, p. 18.

Iobid.

33 70 grrive at this figure, he had computed the elevation of the
pass at 3,378 feet above the head of canoce navigation on the Taiya. To
this figure he had added 124 feet, his estimste of the elevation of the
head of navigation above tidewater.

3% The timberline south of the pass is at 1,900 feet, rather than
2,300 feet as reported by Ogilvie.
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penetrated its recesses only a few hours each day; (b) the pre-
vailing winds, blowing up the pass, piled up huge snow drifts;

and (c) the terrain north of the summit was more open and exposed

to the sun. Vegetation also differed. South of the summit the
timber was of a type peculiar to a coastal environment, while to
the north it was similar to that found in the interior.3°

4. Captain Moore Reconnoiters White Pass

While at Juneau, Ogilvie had heard stories of a low pass from
the head of Taiya Inlet to the headwaters of the Yukon. At the

mouth of the Taiya, he had made inquiries regarding this pass and

learned that there was such a feature. He was unsuccessful, how-
ever, in ascertaining its exact location. Moreover, preliminary

reports indicated that the terrain in the Taiya Valley was so rug-
ged that no road or railway could be constructed through it. What
little he could learn of the other pass indicated that it was much

lower, with the possibility that a wagon road could be opened.3°

One of his party, Capt. William Moore, was anxious to see if
he could pinpoint the elusive pass. The 65-year-old Moore had
been born in Germany, and had cut his teeth sailing aboard North
Sea schooners. He had arrived in New Orleans about 1842 and be-
gan operating towboats on the lower Mississippi. After service
in the Mexican War, Moore spent the next 40 years in quest of
gold. He had been in California in 1849, and then on to the Fra-
ser, the Cariboo, and the Cassiars. Moore was called captain be-
cause he had operated a fleet of steamboats during the Cassiar
stampede. But now he was down on his luck and broke. His home
in Victoria had been foreclosed to satisfy his creditors. 37

Ogilvie accordingly determined to send Captain Moore to search
for this pass, provided he could get an Indian to accompany him.
This would be difficult, because the Chilkoot denied knowledge of
its existence. The Sticks, at the same time, were afraid to do
anything contrary to the wishes of the Chilkoot. Finally, Ogil-
vie prevailed on Skookum Jim, a powerfully-built and handsome
Stick, to go with Moore. Having been through the pass before,
he was a valuable guide.

Captain Moore and Skookum Jim left Taiya Inlet and ascended
the Skagway Valley to its head. They examined the pass, and

35 TIbid., pp. 18-20, 22. 36 Ibid., p. 20.

37

Berton, Klondike Fever, pp. 1L6-1LT.
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struck northward and pinpointed Too-shi River, said to empty into
Tagish Lake. The explorers failed to follow this river to its
mouth, rejoining the main party at Lake Lindeman. After listen-
ing to Moore's report, Ogilvie named the new route "White Pass"
in honor of Thomas White, under whose authority the expedition
had been organized.38 Captain Moore, who had had considerable
experience in building roads in the Canadian Rockies, was of the
opinion that a road could be opened across White Pass. If his
~estimate of the pass elevation, 2,500 feet, was correct, Ogilvie
believed that a railroad could be carried through White Pass.3?

As Ogilvie recalled, the White Pass route was never far from
Captain Moore's mind during the two months that he remained with
the party. "Every night . . . he would picture the tons of yel-
low dust yet to be found in the Yukon Valley. He decided then
and there that Skagway would be the entry point to the gold field."*?

5. The Expedition Reaches Lake Lindeman

After completing the survey between Chilkoot Pass and Lake
Lindeman, Ogilvie prepared to get the baggage moved forward. Of
all the Indians who had served previously as packers, only four
or five could be talked into packing down to the lake, although
the pay offered was four dollars per hundredweight. After one
trip down only two Chilkoot remained, and they in the hope of
stealing something. One of them made off with a pair of boots,
and he was shocked to discover that their value had been deducted
from his pay."!

Ogilvie did not blame the Indians for not wanting to work, as
the weather was atrocious. It rained or snowed most of the time.
After the Indians left, he tried to move the gear with his men,
but "it was slavish and unhealthy labour." One man, after the
first trip, was felled with inflammatory rheumatism. Several of
them were blinded by the snow. With the two sleds bought in Ju-
neau they hauled down from the Crater Lake cache 3,000 pounds of
supplies. With time beginning to run out, Ogilvie became desper-
ate. It so happened that one of his employees was George W. Car-
mack, who was ''married'" to Kate, a sister of Skookum Jim. Both

38 ogilvie, The Klondike Official Guide, pp. 20-21. Skookum meant
strong, and Skookum Jim had, on one occasion, lugged 156 pounds of bacon
over Chilkoot Pass. ’

3% Ibid., p. 22.
40 Berton, Klondike Fever,pp. 22-2k.
41 ogilvie, The Klondike Official Guide, pp. 22-2k.



of them were to be involved in a momentous discovery nine years
later. Carmack, through Kate, possessed considerable influence
among the Stick Indians. He was accordingly sent by Ogilvie to
induce the Stick to serve as packers, at five dollars a hundred-
weight.

The Stick were subservient to the Tlingit,who claimed an exclu-
sive right to the packing trade between the coast and the Yukon
Basin. When asked by Carmack to pack for the expedition, they
feared to do so. After being ridiculed for their cowardice, and
being assured that they had the "exclusive right' to all trade in
their own country, north of the Coast Mountains, nine of them re-
ported to Ogilvie. A few days later, some Chilkoot came over the

pass and started to pack. Soon there was a sizeable working party."

All supplies having been brought down to Lake Lindeman, the
expedition employed their two Peterborough Canoes to shuttle
their gear to the foot of the lake. As the stream between Lakes
Lindeman and Bennett was too shallow for canoe navigation, the

gear had to be portaged. While some of the men were thus employed,

the rest of the party turned to building a boat to ferry the in-
struments and provisions down Lake Bennett and the Yukon to the
vicinity of the international boundary, a distance of 700 miles.
The boat was finished on July 11, and the next day the expedition
shoved off."*3 Ogilvie and his men spent the winter of 1887-88
camped on the Yukon, near the 141lst meridian, where they estab-
lished an observatory.

D. Comments and Recommendations

e s e b e e

Ogilvie's expedition had much greater significance to the Klon-
dike story than Schwatka's reconnaissance. Survey stations were
established in the Taiya Valley and the elevation of Chilkoot Pass
and Lake Lindeman established. Captain Moore was able to pinpoint
and reconnoiter White Pass. More important, the expedition intro-
duced to the region a number of individuals who were to play signi-
ficant roles during the Klondike Gold Rush of 1897-98. These per-
sons were: William Ogilvie, George W. Carmack, Captain Moore, Kate,
and Skookum Jim.

The Krause, Schwatka, and Ogilvie expeditions are important to
an understanding of events leading to the Klondike Gold Rush. As
such, they should be interpreted both on-site and in the Visitor
Center.

42 Ipid., p. 2k. 43 Tbid., pp. 2k, 26.
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CAPTAIN MOORE'S DREAMS

1. Tom Williams' Desperate Mission

Ogilvie's party, while it was en route down the Yukon on August
12, 1887, encountered three men coming upstream. They were J. Ber-
nard Moore, Joe Goldsmith, and Jack Currier. Moore was the son of
Captain Moore, and here, deep in the wilderness, they greeted each
other warmly. Twenty-one-year-old Bernard, hearing of a strike at
Fortymile, had left his home in Victoria and started for the Yukon.

The previous spring there had been a strike near the mouth of
Stewart Kiver and about $100,000 in placer gold panned. By autumn
Arthur Harper had prevailed on two prospectors to try on Fortymile
River, near the Alaskan boundary. There they found course gold,
the kind that prospectors seek. The Stewart River diggings were
soon abandoned as miners raced to the new golconda.

Harper, who had entered into partnership with LeRoy N. McQuesten
and Al Mayo to supply prospectors on the Yukon, realized that the
moment news of the discoveries at Fortymile reached the Puget Sound
cities there would be a stampede. But there was insufficient food
on hand at his trading post to subsist the newcomers. He therefore
determined to send a volunteer down the frozen Yukon and across Chil-
koot to Dyea, where Jack Healy had established a trading post.

Tom Williams, a steamboater turned prospector, started for tide-
water, accompanied by an Indian guide. By the time they reached
Chilkoot they had exhaused their rations, and their dogs were dead.

A blizzard roared in, and for protection they burrowed into the snow.
Their fingers and toes were frostbitten, and their only food was a
few mouthfuls of dry flour. After several days, the Indian again
headed for the coast, carrying Williams. Several miners were encoun-
tered at Sheep Camp, and, with their assistance, the loyal Indian
loaded Williams on a sled and dragged him down the canyon to Healy's
trading post. Williams died there two days later.!

1

Berton, Klondike Fever, pp. 15-1T; Robert Oglesby, "Account of a Six

Month's Trip Through the Yukon Gold Fields," The Cosmopolitan, Sept. 1897,
p. 521; J. Bernard Moore, Skagway in Days Primeval (New York, 1968), pp.
38-39.
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2. Bernard Moore Crosses Chilkoot

Bernard Moore had boarded the first ship for Dyea, the little
steamer Yukom, upon receipt of word of the strike at Fortymile.
He and his companions on March 21, 1887, landed across the ice

and camped in a spruce grove, about one-half mile above the trad-

ing post. On the 23d they broke camp and proceeded to the mouth
of the canyon, taking one-half their outfit upon a sled, which
they pulled over the river ice. A round trip was made the next
day, and Moore and his partner brought up the remainder of their
gear. Three trips were made on the 23d through the canyon to
Pleasant Camp. Large boulders and holes in the ice made travel-
ing difficult. They were compelled to unload their sleds often,
and "1lift them up five or eight feet and then load one sack at

a time." Several times they came dangerously close to tumbling
into pools.?

On March 26 they left Pleasant Camp at 8 a.m., and by 10 o'clock
were at Sheep Camp, with their outfits. After pitching camp, they

each took a load up to Stonehouse. Halting several times, they
looked up toward the summit of Chilkoot and saw men, small dark

spots against the snow, as they struggled forward with their out-

fits. Two days later they took three loads each on their sleds
to the advance cache, and sent down to Healy's for 25 pounds of

bacon, 50 pounds of rice, two tins of syrup, one tin of lard, and
a dozen cans of yeast. From several newcomers, they learned that

the gunboat Pimnta was anchored near Dyea, where she would remain
to overawe the natives until all the prospectors had got their
gear over the pass.3

On March 29, 1887, they began packing the outfits from Stone-
house to the foot of the summit. The grade was steep and it was
hard pulling. When they returned to Sheep Camp, Moore paid four

dollars for some tobacco, yeast powder, and a tin of syrup sent up

by Healy. Because of the high cost of transportation, $12, no
rice or bacon had been forwarded.

Bad weather kept most of the prospectors holed-up for the next

24 hours. On March 31 the weather moderated, and 60 men turned

out to pack their outfits to the summit. The next day there was

heavy traffic over the pass. Indian women and their children,
some as young as ten years old, were out in force '"packing from

Moore, Skagway in Days Primeval, pp. 43-Lh.

Tbid., pp. L43-LL.
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fifty to seventy-five and one hundred pounds on their backs for
miners, earning from ten to twenty dollars per day.'' During the
day the first party crossed Chilkoot with their camp outfits.

When they lugged their first load to the summit on April 2,
Moore reported that

going up the last pitch is similar to going up a stairway.
We felt quite warm in our exertion and many times in ascend-
ing; when we became winded, we would just turn around and
lean back against the snow and rest a while without remov-
ing our packs.

The next day, they hired three Indians to take nine packs from
the foot of the summit to the crest for §$30, each pack weighing
from 75 to 100 pounds. Moore and his partner experienced con-
siderable difficulty in pulling their sleds across Chilkoot.
They then retraced their route for what they hoped would be the
last time,

They spent their last night at Sheep Camp on April 3, and the
next morning they struck their tent and headed up the trail. By
the time they reached '"'0ld Man Medlow's Camp,' one mile up the
trail, Moore was snow blinded. To get relief, he applied warm
moist tea leaves over his eyes. The next day they left Medlow's
at 6:30 a.m. and were at the summit in three and one-half hours.
Here they loaded their outfits on their sleds and eased them down
the Canadian side, caching one-half at Crater Lake. Darkness over-
took them within one mile of Lake Lindeman, and they camped in the
timber. Very hard sledding was encountered in the canyon between
Deep Lake and - Lake Lindeman. They returned to Crater Lake two days
later for the portion of their outfit cached on April 5. On the
8th they started with one-half their gear for Lake Bennett, travel-
ing across frozen Lake Lindeman. Unlike Moore and his partner, some
of the prospectors rigged large square sails on their sleds."

3. Moore Stops at Fortymile and Visits St. Michael

They continued down the frozen waterway as far as the foot of
Marsh Lake. The ice now started to break up, and they halted to
build a raft. Launching the craft on April 23, they cast off for
Fortymile, which they reached on May 30. Moore, seeing that there
was little opportunity for newcomers to stake a promising claim,
pushed on down the Yukon to St. Michael. His wanderlust satisfied,

I

Ibid., pp. 46-L8.
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he took passage aboard a Yukon steamer and was back at Fortymile on
July 27. Within the week, Moore, accompanied by Joe Goldsmith and
Jack Currier, started for tidewater. On August 12, as they paddled
up the Yukon, they sighted Ogilvie's camp.®

. Captain Moore Builds a Dock and Cabin

1. Captain Moore and His Son Visit Skagway Valley

Captain Moore determined to secure his discharge from Ogilvie
and return to the coast with his son's party. Ogilvie was agree-
able, and the four pushed off the next day. On September 5 they
reached the head of Lake Lindeman. After establishing a cache in
a large spruce, they prepared to pack across to the coast. The
summit of Chilkoot was crossed at 4:30 p.m. in a driving sleet
storm. They pushed on, but one-half mile above Stonehouse, they
were compelled by the rain-swollen Taiya to stop. Cold, wet, and

hungry they camped on damp, soggy ground near the creek. The water

ran off during the night, and, after fording the stream, the trav-
elers hiked on to Sheep Camp. They left Sheep Camp at 10 a.m. on
September 8, and found the trail through the canyon very rough.
The forks were reached at 4 p.m., and here they found a small
canoe which took them down the Taiya to tidewater.®

Captain Moore had not forgotten about White Pass and his dream
of opening and exploiting a trail, via that route, across the
Coast Range. His enthusiasm was communicated to his son. But
first they would have to lay in supplies. The first week of Octo-
ber 1887 found father and son in Juneau. On the 7th they started
for Dyea Inlet in a large canoe, heavily laden with the equipment
and food to subsist them for several months. Their plan was to
take up a 160-acre homestead at the mouth of Skagway River and
build a wharf,

Severe storms, encountered on Lynn Canal, compelled them to
lay-to for several days, and it was October 20 before they arrived
off the mouth of Skagway River. They paddled up the river about
one-fourth mile and beached the craft. Landing, they pitched
their tent "at the foot of a little bluff on the beach where a

Ibid., pp. 81, 85. Ogilvie's party was camped on the west side

of the Yukon, 26 miles above the mouth of the Pelly.

Ibid., pp. 93-95.
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small creek comes down and joins the large creek on the righthand
or east side of the bay."’

Again demonstrating his foresight, the father assured his son,
"I fully expect before many years to see a pack trail through this
pass, followed by a wagon road, and I would not be at all surprised
to see a railroad through to the lakes."®

On the 21st they made soundings and located a site for their
wharf, near the east side of the bay at the foot of a high, steep,
rocky bluff. Work was started on the cribbing. On the 24th Cap-
tain Healy came over from Dyea in a canoe to look at his schooner,
Charlie, which had broken adrift and had grounded near Mill Creek.
With him were his partner, Wilson, and George Carmack. When Healy
returned to his trading post, the two others remained on the Skag-
way to refloat and repair the schooner. Meanwhile, Captain Moore
was able to hire an Indian to assist him and his son at two dol-
lars per day and his board.?

By November 11 they had finished all the work they intended at
the wharf site, and had cleared an area for the foundation of the
12 x 16-foot cabin they proposed to build on ''the beach in line
with and to connect with the inner logs or binders that connect
the crib to shore above high watermark." On the 12th they laid
foundation logs for their cabin, '"measuring sixteen by sixteen
feet on the bank, about twenty feet from the creek where it forks,
and about a quarter of a mile farther up the valley from our pre-
sent camp on the lefthand side of the creek going up."10

2. The Moores Return to_the Skagway

Carmack and Wilson, on November 13, refloated Chariie, and two
days later the Moores took passage on the schooner for Juneau. The
next six months were spent at Juneau and Victoria discussing pros-
pects with friends and getting ready to spend a summer at Moores-
ville, as they called their settlement on the Skagway. Father and
son were back at Mooresville on May 26, 1888, and saw that their
cribbing had withstood the winter's storms. On Monday, the 28th,
they commenced getting out logs for their cabin. Three days later
they chained off and relocated their one hundred and sixty acres
to extend from tidemark back against the bluff on the east side of
the bay and northwest toward Skagway River.ll

11

Ibid., pp. 97-102. The creek referred to is Mill Creek.
Ibid., p. 102. 9 7Tbiad. 10 1pid., pp. 105~106.

Tbid, Logs were floated down Mill Creek to the construction site.
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While the Moores made their improvements, there was trouble at
Captain Healy's trading post on the Dyea flats, four miles away.
A number of Tlingit from Baranof Island had come up from Sitka to
work as packers. The Chilkoot regarded the newcomers as interlop-
ers, and on June 5 their chief, Kla-Naut, demanded that the Sitkans
"desist from infringing on his people's rights . . . or pay him
thirty percent on all goods packed by the Sitka Indians' over
Chilkoot Pass to Lake Lindeman. This the Tlingit refused to do,
and their leader ordered his men to strap on their packs. Kla-
Naut then slapped the face of Sitka Jack’s son. Sitka Jack at-
tacked Kla-Naut and a fight with knives ensued. Before they were
separated, both men had been cut. Next day, the 5th, the two fac-
tions met in front of the trading post, and a fight took place in
which knives and small-arms were employed. Several Indians were
killed and a number wounded.!?

Kla-Naut and Sitka Jack again battled with knives. Kla-Naut,
getting the worst of the fight, broke away, and fled toward the
trading post. Sitka Jack called to Captain Healy, threatening to
burn down the post if he sheltered his foe. Kla-Naut, with the
door barred against him, was compelled to confront his powerfully -
built foe. The personal confrontation ended with Sitka Jack brain-
ing Kla-Naut. Moments later, Kla-Naut's son slipped behind the
victor and knifed him to death.

Kla-Naut's followers now called on Healy and demanded a large
number of blankets as reparations for their leader's death. Healy
barricaded the doors and windows and refused to listen to their de-
mands. Whereupon the Chilkoot threatened to fire the buildings.

A sailor and Wilson slipped down the canal on the 6th for Juneau
to get reinforcements.

News of the fight at Dyea spread like wildfire. Within a few
minutes of Wilson's arrival at Juneau, a number of men, armed to
the teeth, had turned out. Twenty-two of them sailed off for the
point of danger aboard the little steamer Lucy. By the time she
anchored off Dyea flats on June 9, most of the Indians had disap-
peared, and those remaining had placed little white flags on poles
as a sign of peace.!?

12

Ibid., pp. 117-118. The trading post was a two-story, hewn-log

structure of about 25 by L0 feet.

13

Ibid., pp. 117-120.
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Following this excitement, the Moores went back to work. On

June 16 they moved into their cabin, although it was not completed.

With the assistance of two Indians, hired on the 18th, they again
turned their attention to the wharf. By July 5 construction had

proceeded to the point where they were able to pay off their labor-

ers. On August 1, 1888, they decided that they had accomplished
all they could for the present, and after packing their gear in a
canoe, they locked up their cabin and paddled over to Dyea. From
there, they took passage for Juneau.l"

C. The Secretary Discourages Opening Toll Trails
E b e e R R R R PR EE PR R R D)

As early as 1887 the Secretary of the Interior found himself bom-
barded by requests from promoters desirous of securing franchises
for construction of trails across the Alaskan Panhandle from tide-
water to the headwaters of the Yukon. Edward Bean, as to be expec-
ted from his early interest in the area, wrote the Secretary asking
for a charter to construct 'a practical pack trail from a point near
the head of Lynn Canal, to connect with a trail from Bennett Lake
. « . for which a charter had been granted by the government of Bri-
tish Columbia." After studying the request, Secretary of the Inte-
rior L. Q. C. Lamar notified Bean that his office had no authority
to grant such a privilege. A franchise such as was desired could
only be secured through Congressional action.!®

The following year David Flannery and Samuel O. Wheeler, having
talked with Captain Moore about White Pass, attempted to steal his
thunder. They were turned down by the Secretary when they asked
for a charter '"for a pack trail to be constructed from Skagway Bay

. to the boundary line of British Columbia at Summit Lake, to-
gether with a right-of-way of one-half mile on either side.”lé

1% 1bid., pp. 17-18. The wharf, when completed, rested on stone
cribs and pilings and was 30 feet wide by 60 feet long.

15 Muldrow to Bean, Feb. 16, 1887, NA, Microcopy 430, Ltrs. Recd.,
Secretary of the Interior. Henry L. Muldrow was lst Assistant Secre-
tary of the Interior in President Grover Cleveland's cabinet.

16 vyilas to G. G. Vest, Feb. 17, 1888, NA, Microcopy 430, Ltrs. Reecd.,
Secretary of the Intericr. William F. Vilas was Secretary of the Inte-
rior in the final months of President Cleveland's administration, while

George G. Vest was a United States Senator from Missouri.
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Captain Moore, at the time he built his wharf and cabin on Skagway
Bay, applied to Governor A. P. Swineford of Alaska for a similar con-
cession. The Governor informed Moore that he was powerless to act and
referred him to the Secretary of the Interior.!? Three years passed
before Captain Moore got around to writing the Secretary. In April
1891 he proposed to open a pack trail from Skagway Bay through White
Pass to Summit Lake. This trail, to be blasted or cribbed from the
mountain side, would be five feet wide when graded. All streams not
fordable at high water were to be bridged. As the opening of a trail
across White Pass would necessitate considerable blasting and expense,
Moore wished to be granted a franchise to levy a toll.l1®

Acting Secretary George Chandler, after discussing Moore's request
and reviewing previous correspondence on the subject, informed him
that legislation was needed for the franchise. The request for neces-
sary legislation, it was pointed out, should originate with the gov-
ernor of Alaska.!®

Within six months the Secretary received a request from Miner W.
Bruce and Charles W. Young of Juneau for a '"charter' to construct a
toll road up the Chilkat. Secretary John W. Noble, like his prede-
cessors, vetoed the request.2? Sheldon Jackson, the influential Pres-
byterian missionary, had taken cognizance of the applications for
franchises to open trails across the Alaska Panhandle. While he had
frequently urged such a project, he argued that in granting the priv-
ilege the government should insure that the interests of the Chilkoot
and Chilkat were protected, as the country to be traversed by the pro-

posed roads and trails had been their homeland '"from times immemorial."

He cautioned that the Chilkoot considered Chilkoot Pass their ''pecu-

liar property,' and had never tolerated its use by the interior tribes.?

17 Moore to Secretary of the Interior, April 27, 1891, NA, Microcopy

430, Ltrs. Recd., Secretary of the Interior.

18 The right-of-way desired by Moore would extend to a distance of

one mile on either side of the trail.

19" Chandler to Moore, July 2, 1891, NA, Microcopy 430, Ltrs. Recd.,

Secretary of the Interior.

20 Noble to Bruce and Young, March 18, 1892, NA, Microcopy 430, Ltrs.

Recd., Secretary of the Interior.

2l Jackson to Noble, March 16, 1892, NA, Microcopy 430, Ltrs. Recd.,

Secretary of the Interior. John W. Noble had succeeded Vilas as Secre-
tary of the Interior on March 1, 1889.
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The failure to secure a franchise from the government discouraged
promoters. They knew that with the high cost of construction, people
with capital to invest would not be interested in their projects, un-
less given an opportunity to recoup their outlays by being granted
the privilege of charging a toll.

D. From 1893-1896 on the Chilkoot Trail
BBRHBBRERBRBRBBBEHBBDBBRDRBBBHOHBDBHES

1. The Moores Keep the Faith

The Moores, father and son, returned to Skagway Bay on several
occasions during the ensuing years to check on their claim. When
Bernard Moore visited the area in the spring of 1894, he saw that
the wharf, its pilings having rotted, had collapsed.

He had come north on a sloop with a promoter named Peterson.
Peterson had with him a number of large hair sealskins, sewed
together in the form of sleds, about six feet long and four feet
wide. To these frames had been sewn heavy canvas sides. These
sleds, of which he had ten, were about two feet in depth. Peter-
son proposed to Moore that they rig heavy poles from The Scales
to the summit of Chilkoot, and by employing an endless rope, with
blocks and pulleys connected to the sleds, hoist freight up the
steep grade. Power for the project would be provided by loading
the empty sleds with snow at the crest. These sleds would then
have sufficient weight as they descended to haul up an equal num-
ber loaded with freight.

Moore, believing there was merit to Peterson's scheme, agreed
to join him. Several horses belonging to Captain Moore were raf-
ted over to Dyea from Mooresville. As the Taiya was still frozen,
the horses hauled the sleds up to the mouth of the canyon over the
ice. After much backbreaking work, which involved cutting a trail,
Peterson and Moore reached The Scales with their sleds. Several
weeks were required to place the poles in position and rig the end-
less rope. Their experiment, however, was a dismal failure, and their
dreams of wealth vanished when it was found that they, along with
a number of prospectors, had to lay onto the rope and pull the load-
ed sled up the slope of Chilkoot. All agreed, after several days,
that this was harder work than pulling 'a medium-loaded, regular
handsled" across the summit. The project was abandoned.??

- I‘ll' E N N N EE am = ‘I'll I E I N I Em III‘I' [

22 Moore, Skagway in Days Primeval, pp. 168-169, 173.
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2. Frederick Funston Crosses Chilkoot

Frederick Funston, who was destined to gain fame as a brigadier
general in the Philippine Insurrection by his capture of Emilio
Aguinaldo, crossed Chilkoot Pass in 1893, three years before gold
was discovered in the Klondike. Having had some training in bot-
any, Funston was commissioned by the Secretary of Agriculture to
gather botanical specimens in the Yukon Valley. For Funston, the
trip to the Arctic was another opportunity for adventure in a long
and adventurous career.

Funston and his three traveling companions {(McConnell, Thompson,
and Mattern) landed at Dyea at daybreak on April 10, 1893. He was
the only one in the group that had previously been to Alaska. His
companions planned to travel with him as far as Fortymile.?3

Their outfit consisted of two small tents, several handsleds
(each eight feet long with steel runners), blankets, rifles, ammu-
nition, a six weeks supply of flour, bacon, coffee, a whip-saw,
axes, and other tools for boat-building, and two cameras. The en-
tire outfit weighed about 1,000 pounds. Their plan was to ascend
the Taiya Valley, cross Chilkoot Pass, '"and descend to the frozen
lakes on the other side--dragging our outfit on the hand-sleds
across'' a chain of lakes, until reaching a point where there were
trees of sufficient size to build a small boat in which to proceed
down the Yukon to Fortymile.

Near the landing was the village of Dyea, '"'whose inhabitants
turn an honest penny every spring' by assisting miners bound for
the interior in packing their supplies to the summit. Funston's
party divided their gear into seven packs and hired seven Chilkoot,
five men and two women, as packers,

They started up the valley on April 12. The Indians supported
their loads on their backs by the aid of deerskin bands, passing
across the forehead. Several children went along, carrying on
their backs light loads, consisting of food and cooking utensils
for the use of their parents. Two dogs also went along wearing
packs.

At one o'clock they reached the forks of the river, where the
Indians threw off their loads and announced that there they would
camp. While there had been no snow at Dyea, there were two feet

23 Prederick Funston, "Over the Chilkoot Pass to the Yukon," Sceribner's

Magazine, 20, No. 5, Nov. 1896, 572.
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at this point. It snowed during the night, and half the next day
was spent in wading through deep snow to reach Sheep Camp. They
spent the night bedded down near the timber-line, '"at the foot of
the dreaded pass."?*

The weather had cleared during the night, and they turned out
before daybreak on April 14 to find " the sky clear and the air
frosty.'" Below them was a 'scattering growth of stunted spruce-
trees and above the great slopes of ice and snow.'" The children
and dogs were left at Sheep Camp to await the return of their par-
ents, and, after having had breakfast at 8 a.m., the climb was
commenced.

The Indians struggling forward with their heavy loads were
compelled to stop periodically to rest. Funston and his three
companions found the task of pulling the two empty sleds exhaust-
ing. As they ascended, the snow, which at lower altitudes had
been soft, was hard and crusted. Before they reached the summit
it was more like ice than snow. They reached The Scales by 11
o'clock. From here to the summit was about three-fourths of a
mile, and as they looked up that '"long trough of glistening ice
and hard-crusted snow, as steep as the roof of a house, there was
not one of us that did not dread the remainder of the day's work."

The women were sent back to Sheep Camp and the bucks divided
the packs, leaving nearly half the gear for a second trip. One
of them produced a plaited line of rawhide, about 100 feet long,
and employing it as a life-line lashed the nine of them together
about ten feet apart. The man at the head of the line carried an
alpenstock, and as they advanced he cut footholds in the ice and
hard-packed snow. As they had to zigzag, it took three hours to
reach the summit. After resting the Indians returned to get the
rest of the outfit. Since the trail had been cut, and they were
now unencumbered by the whites and sleds, the Indians were back
at the summit of Chilkoot in less than two hours.?>

Funston and his companions now loaded their outfit onto the
two sleds, securely strapping it to the frames. They started
down the slope toward Crater Lake. It was a wild ride. All ef-
forts to control the sleds were fruitless. The sleds, each with
two men and 500 pounds of equipment, shot down the grade with
the speed of an express. The lead sled struck an uneven surface,
tipped over, and snapped its lashings. The air was filled with

24

Tbid., pp. 5T4-575. 25 Tpid., pp. 5T7k-575.
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blanket rolls, sides of bacon, mining tools, and profanity. The
second sled was more fortunate and glided to a stop on Crater Lake.
It took Thompson and Mattern one-half hour to reload their sled.

Darkness overtook the party between Deep Lake and Lake Lindeman,
and they were caught in a blizzard. Compelled to abandon their
sleds, they sought shelter. Before doing so, however, they for-
tunately marked the site with a long-handled shovel thrust in the
snow and capped with a bucket. Making their way down into the
canyon, they took cover in a clump of spruce and built a fire.

It had stopped snowing in the morning. They returned and re-
trieved the sleds, which had been buried, and finally reached
Lake Lindeman. Funston and his companions, pulling their sleds
over the ice, passed Lakes Lindeman, Bennett, Nares, and Tagish.
One mile above Lake Marsh they stopped and whip-sawed lumber from
which they built a boat. Before the ice broke up, they were over-
taken by a dozen men en route to Fortymile. The newcomers had
crossed Chilkoot on April 17,1893, three days after they had .26

After reaching Fortymile, Funston said goodbye to his compan-
ions and pushed on into the Arctic. He wintered at Rampart House
on Porcupine River. Before leaving the Yukon Basin, he broke a
new route, and traveling due north reached the shore of the Arctic

Two years after his return from the Yukon Basin and the Arctic,
Funston published an article in the popular monthly magazine, Serib-
ners, describing his expedition and the trip across Chilkoot Pass.
This article, when the electrifying news of discovery of gold on
the Klondike reached the United States, influenced most of those
who participated in the rush in the spring of 1897 to take the

The best place to interpret the story of Captain Moore and his

36
Ocean.
Chilkoot Trail.
E. Comments and Recommendations
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ity of returrning the cabin to its historic site.
26

Tbid., pp. 5T8-579.
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IV, GOLD IS DISCOVERED IN THE KLONDIKE

1. Henderson Enters the Yukon

Robert D. Henderson was born in Pictou Nova Scotia, in 1857.
The son of a lighthouse keeper, he was raised by his parents on
Big Island. He was going to sea as a fisherman almost before he
was a teenager. Leaving home at 14 he moved to New England, from
where he went to Portland, Oregon, intending to go to Alaska. In-
stead he was persuaded to travel to Patagonia by Jim Fielding to
prospect. He failed, however, to get there and returned to Nova Sco-
tia. In 1880 Henderson again headed west and worked the Colorado
diggings for 14 years. In 1894 he headed for Alaska and in April
landed at Dyea. He and two companions, Kendrick and Snider, packed
his outfit over Chilkoot Pass, and by June 1 he was camped on Lake
Lindeman. There he whipsawed some lumber and built a boat, which
carried him down the Yukon to the mouth of the Pelly. Here he pan-
ned for gold and found enough to bring him $54. Running out of
supplies, he headed for Sixtymile.!l

2. Henderson Meets Joe Ladue

At Sixtymile, Henderson stopped at the trading post run by Joe
Ladue. Of French-Canadian descent, Ladue, who had been born in
upstate New York in 1852, had entered the north country in 1882.
He had failed to strike it rich, and he went to work for Harper
and McQuesten. When they broke up their partnership in 1889, La-
due continued his connection with Harper. Ladue's trading post
was a popular stop for all prospectors en route down the Yukon,
and he never failed to encourage them with stories of mother lodes
just waiting to be found.?

Ladue's trading post was about 100 miles upstream from Forty-
mile. Between the two settlements, two other rivers flowed into
the Yukon from the east: the Indian River, about 30 miles downstream
from Ogilvie, and the Thron-diuck, another 30 miles farther down.

1 Mrs. William Campbell Lowden, "The Real Discoverer of Gold in the
Klondike ,"Alaska-Yukon Magazine, Sept. 1908, pp. 415-L16. The community
that had grown up here--consisting of a few cabins and tents, a sawmill,
and a two-story log trading post--was called Ogilvie, in honor of William
Ogilvie, the surveyor.

2 oOgilvie, Early Days on the Yukom, pp. 118-119; J. Lincoln Steffens,
"Life in the Klondike Gold Fields! MeClure's Magazine, Sept. 1897, p. 957.
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He, however, believed that the Indian River country had possibil-
ities, and he urged every prospector that would listen to give it
a try.

3. Two Lonely Years on the Yukon

Henderson was impressed with what he heard. After purchasing a
small outfit from Ladue, Henderson joined Jack Collins and they
drifted down the Yukon to Indian River. Henderson at this time was
37 years old. He was lean and tall, with "a gaunt hawk's face,
fiercely knit brows, and piercing eyes.'" His full mustache drooped
at the ends. The partners prospected Indian River and Quartz Creek,
finding some colors. Collins, with the approach of winter, returned
to Sixtymile, while Henderson spent the winter of 1894-1895 prospect-
ing Quartz, Australia, and Wounded Moose creeks. While searching
for a way to take his outfit down into one of the valleys on the
Thron-diuck slope, he was snow blinded.3 Henderson, after resting
his eyes, sought to return downstream. Encountering a herd of cari-
bou, he killed and skinned two, using the hides to build a canoe.

On May 6, 1895, he injured his leg when he fell across the broken
limb of a tree, driving the stob into his calf. As soon as he was
able to travel, he returned to Quartz Creek, where he prospected for
two weeks. But as his leg still plagued him, he started for Sixty-
mile in his canoe. Accompanied by William Radford, he was back on
Quartz Creek by mid-June. Early in the autumn he headed for Sixty-
mile to purchase winter supplies. The winter of 1895-1896 was spent
alone on Quartz Creek. Here he burned holes to bedrock and drifted
tunnels in search of pay-dirt. During this period he panned $620."

While prospecting Indian River and its tributaries, Henderson ob-
served a dome-shaped mountain, whose summit rose above the other
hills. A number of streams flowing into Indian River headed against
this mountain, and in the spring of 1896 he climbed the dome to see
what was on the other side. When he reached the summit, he saw to
the north a mass of snow-capped peaks. In other directions, as far
as the eye could see, were a maze of hills and valleys. From the
dome on which Henderson stood, creeks radiated out like the spokes
of a wheel, Three led off toward Indian River and an equal number,

3

Lowden, "The Real Discoverer of Gold in the Klondike," Alaska-

Yukon Magazine, Sept. 1908, pp. 416-L17; Berton, Klondike Fever, pp. 35-3T.

N

Yukon Magazine, Sept. 1908, pp. L17-L18.

Lowden, "The Real Discoverer of Gold in the Xlondike,'" Alaska-

|
Ladue had reconnoitered the Thron-diuck, but he had found no colors. I
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on the opposite side, flowed into an unfamiliar watercourse. Al-
though Henderson did not know it, these six streams were destined,
within the year, to yield fabulous quantities of gold.

4. Henderson's Strike on Gold Bottom

Almost at Henderson's feet, a ravine dropped off from the dome.
Henderson worked his way down this stream and began pamning. Fair
prospects were found, and he was able to wash out two cents to the
pan. Satisfied that he had made a strike, he recrossed the divide
and returned to his camp on Indian River for supplies. There he
found 18 men working the sandbars. They had been directed to the
area by Joe Ladue, and told to see Henderson.

He told the newcomers of his strike on the stream, which he
named '"Gold Bottom Creek” because, as he recalled, "I had a day-
dream that when I got my shaft down to bedrock it might be like
the streets of the New Jerusalem." The newcomers were invited to
join him, and they would divide the profits equally in the autumn.
In addition, they would have the privilege of staking claims where
ever they saw fit. The proposition was accepted. Soon, however,
the newcomers tired of the hard work and began to drift off. Be-
fore very long, there were only five men, including Henderson, left
on Gold Bottom.?

By mid-July 1896 the five (Henderson, Dalton, two Swedes, and
one Italian) had panned out several hundred dollars, but they were
running out of supplies. Henderson, who was familiar with the coun-
try, started for Ladue's post at Sixtymile,

B. George W. Carmack's Discover
P I N A

1. A Chance Encounter

In descending Indian River, the water was so shoal that Henderson's
canoe frequently grounded, and he realized that unless there were
heavy rains it would be impossible to return via this route with sup-
plies. As he ascended the Yukon, Henderson told all those he met
about his strike on Gold Bottom and urged them to stake claims.

> Ibid., pp. 119-121; Berton, Klondike Fever, pp. 38~39; Ogilvie, Early
Daye on the Yukon, pp. 123-124, Before returning with the prospectors to
Gold Bottom, Henderson had observed that Rebbit Creek had good prospects.
During the summer, Henderson deserted his comrades for several days and pros-
pected Gold Run, where he found colors yielding 5 to 35 cents per pan before
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After making his purchases at Ladue's, Henderson loaded his goods
and drifted down the Yukon. Not wishing to risk wrecking his craft
ascending Indian River, he determined to paddle up the Thron-diuck,
into which he had concluded Gold Bottom must flow.® At the mouth
of the Thron-diuck or Klondike as it soon began to be called, Hen-
derson sighted a camp. Henderson landed and was hailed by George
W. Carmack.

Carmack, like Henderson, was a pioneer. He had been born on a
cattle ranch at Costa, California, on September 24, 1860. In March

1885, he left San Francisco, reaching Juneau in April. There he organ

ized a party of seven men, and they crossed Chilkoot Pass and pros-

pected the upper Yukon as far as Miles Canyon. Finding nothing they

returned to Juneau. Two years later he joined the Ogilvie survey

party, and, having been over the route before, helped guide the group

to Lake Bennett. That fall he returned to Juneau and bought a sup-
ply of goods to trade with the Indians of the Yukon Basin.

At the mouth of the Hootalinque he prospected, hunted, and trap-

ped with the Indians. Accompanied by Skookum Jim and Tagish Charley,

he worked the upper Yukon until June 1889, when they dropped down-
stream to Fortymile. In 1890 they found colors on Birch Creek, and
in July 1896 they, along with their wives, had established a fish
camp at the mouth of the Thron-diuck, the best salmon river in the
Yukon.’

Carmack, his wife Kate, their daughter Graphie Gracey, and his
two brothers-in-law Skookum Jim and Tagish Charley were catching
and drying salmon. Henderson, in accordance with the unwritten
miners' code, called Carmack aside and told him of his strike on
Gold Bottom. Carmack asked Henderson if there was any chance to
stake a claim. Henderson, who had no use for Indians, glanced at
Skookum Jim and Tagish Charley, who were standing nearby and mut-
tered, "There's a chance for you, George, but I don't want any
damn Siwashes staking on that creek." These words were to cost
him dearly.8

he reached bedrock. He returned and told the others, but it was deter-
mined to remain where they were until the close of the season. Lowden,
"The Real Discoverer of Gold in the Klondike," Alaska-Yukon Magazine,
Sept. 1908, p. 121.

® Thron-diuck means 'Hammer-Water" in Indian. It was so named because
of the stakes the Indians hammered into the muck on which they hung fish
nets. Berton, Klondike Fever, p. 40.

7 Walter R. Hamilton, The Yukon Story (Vancouver, 196L), p. 69.

8 Berton, Klondike Fever, pp. 40-43; Lowden, "The Real Discoverer of
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Henderson now poled his way up the Klondike to the mouth of Gold
Run Creek, where he beached his craft and made a cache. He then
packed into Discovery Camp on Gold Bottom.

2. Carmack Strikes It Rich

Carmack was in no hurry to follow Henderson's suggestion and go
upstream and stake a claim on Gold Bottom. He and his brothers-in-
law were more interested, at the moment, in getting out logs to raft
down to the sawmill at Fortymile, where they would bring $25 per 1000
feet. Skookum Jim had already ascended Rabbit Creek, where he had
seen many good trees. More important, he had done some panning and
had found some colors. He told those at the fishing camp of his dis-
covery, but it elicited scant interest.

n
1
About 20 days after Henderson's visit, Carmack told his brothers-
in-law to get ready to find Bob. Instead of ascending the Klondike
l to the mouth of Gold Run, they decided to go overland up the valley
of Rabbit Creek, which led to the high ridge separating the water-
sheds of the Klondike and Indian rivers. They started up Rabbit
Creek with gold pans, spades, axes, and other tools necessary for
a prolonged stay in the woods. A short distance below where they
subsequently made their strike, they halted for a rest and found a
' ten-cent pan. This caused some excitement, and it was determined
that if Gold Bottom proved a bust they would return. Carmack told
the Indians not to mention what they had found to Henderson, until
l they had returned, '"then if they found anything good they might tell."?

On reaching the point where a watercourse, soon to be called
Eldorado Creek, discharges into Rabbit, they climbed out of the
valley and took the crest of the divide around the head of Rabbit,
where they found a route blazed by Henderson. When they found Hen-
derson, they were out of provisions and tobacco, the latter a ser-
ious predicament for the two Indians. Henderson refused to share,
although Jim and Charley offered to pay well for all they took.!®

Carmack and his brothers-in-law, after reconnoitering the area,
determined that prospects looked better back on Rabbit and prepared
to return. As they were shouldering their packs, Henderson called:

Carmack, I have been intending to do some prospecting on Rab~-
bit Creek this winter, but you might do some panning on your

Gold in the Klondike," Alaska-Yukon Magazine, Sept. 1908, pp. 121-122;
Ogilvie, Early Days on the Yukon, pp. 124-126. Siwash was a term of oppro-
' brium for an Indian.
9 Ogilvie, Early Days on the Yukon, pp. 125-126.

I 10 1vid., pp. 126-128.
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way back, and if you find anything send one of the Indians
back and let me know, and I will pay him for coming.

Carmack agreed and went his way.ll

The evening of August 14, 1896, found them camped on Rabbit Creek,
one-half mile below the forks. Their provisions exhausted, Skookum
Jim went hunting and killed a moose. While awaiting the arrival of
the others, Jim went to the creek for a drink. There he found gold
in greater quantities than he had heretofore seen. After they had
butchered the moose, he showed them the colors. 1t was found that
a single panful yielded a quarter of an ounce, or about four dollars'
worth. 1In a country where a ten-cent pan had been considered some-
thing to boast of, this was something to shout about. They remained
two days at the site panning and testing the gravel up and down the
creek. After satisfying themselves as to the best site, they deter-
mined to stake and record it. There was a dispute as to who should
record the discovery claim, "Jim claiming it by right of discovery,
and Carmac[k] claiming it . . . on the ground that an Indian would
not be allowed to record it." The difficulty was settled by agree-
ing that Carmack was to stake and record the discovery claim, and
assign one-half of it to Jim. On the morning of August 17, 1896,
Carmack blazed a small spruce tree with his hand axe, and on the up-
stream side wrote with a pencil:

Gu =

To Whom It May Concern
I do this day, locate and claim by right of discovery, five
hundred feet running upstream from this notice. Located
this 17th day of August, 1896.
G. W. Carmack!?

Carmack stepped off three more claims: No. 1 Below for himself,
No. 2 Below for Tagish Charley, and No. 1 Above for Skookum Jim.
The gold which they had panned was placed in a Winchester rifle
cartridge shell, and they returned to the salmon camp at the mouth
of the Klondike. There a small raft of saw logs was prepared for
the mill at Fortymile. While Carmack and Charley went downstream
on it, Jim returned to guard the claims, as the country was alive

11 1owden, "The Real Discoverer of Gold in the Klondike," Alaska-Yukon
Magazine, Sept. 1908, pp. 121-123,

12 ogilvie, Early Days on the Yukon, pp. 128-129; Berton, Klondike Fever,
p. 47. Under Canadian law, no more than one claim could be staked in any
mining district by anyone except the discoverer, who was allowed a double
claim. The claim, by law, straddled a creek from bedrock to bedrock.
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with people Ladue had sent in search of Henderson's camp. On August
19 Edward Monahan and Greg Stewart staked two claims, two miles below
the discovery, while on the 20th J. Moffat, D. Edwards, D. Robertson,
and C. Kimball staked additional claims downstream. These men, as
Carmack could not possibly have reached Fortymile by the 21st, could
not all owe their information to Carmack and the two Indians,!3

3. Carmack Spreads the Word

When Carmack and Tagish Charley reached Fortymile, and told of
their discovery and showed the gold, their story at first failed to
arouse much interest. Carmack had not done much prospecting, and
his long association with Indians had prejudiced the white commu-
nity against him. They were unable to believe that the squawman
had made a strike. It was believed that the gold was from Miller
Creek, and had been given to Carmack by Joe Ladue to start a stam-
pede. When some of them came to see William Ogilvie, he pointed
out that Carmack must have found the gold somewhere. By the time
they had recorded their claims with the authorities, a stampede was
under way.l"

Within three weeks the area was overrun with prospectors. Before
the end of August, a miners' meeting had determined that the name
Rabbit Creek was too prosaic, and the stream was now called Bonanza
Creek. Joe Ladue had closed up his trading post at Sixtymile, and
had erected a warehouse and cabin on a site he had selected on the
east bank of the Yukon, just below the mouth of the Klondike. Ladue
named the new mining camp Dawson City in honor of George M. Dawson.

By August 31 all of Bonanza Creek had been staked, with more
prospectors arriving daily. Fabulous strikes were now made on the
south fork by Antone Stander, Jay Whipple, Frank Keller, J. J.
Clements, and Frank Phiscator. Each ef these claims, all staked
on the 31st, were destined to produce over one million dollars in
gold. The stream henceforth was known as Eldorado.l®

Meanwhile, over on Gold Bottom Creek, Robert Henderson and his
friends continued to operate their sluice. They were unaware that

Ogilvie, Early Days on the Yukon, pp. 128-131.

Ibid., pp. 131-133; Berton, Klondike Fever, pp. 48-51.

C. Henderson's Cruel Fate
BREHBRRRBEARBRRIRERRHSE
1._Word of the Strike Reaches Gold Bottom
13
14
15

Berton, Klondike Fever, pp. 51-60.
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across the ridge there were hundreds of prospectors; that Bonanza
was staked for 14 miles and Eldorado for three. He and his part-
ners had seen no one since that day in August, when Carmack had
walked off, promising to send word if he found anything on Rabbit
Creek.

At the end of the first week in September, eight men came over
the hill, with packs on their backs. Henderson, greeting the new-
comers, inquired, '"Hello, boys, where did you hail from?"

"From Bonanza Creek," they answered.

"Bonanza Creek?'" Henderson repeated. The name puzzled him, be-
cause, although he had been in the area for two years, he had never

heard of a stream by that name. He asked, "Where is Bonanza Creek?"

"Just over the hills about ten miles,'" answered one of the men,
pointing in the direction with his finger.

"Oh, that's Rabbit Creek."
"The people over there call it Bonanza Creek."
"Have they found anything over there?"

"Found anything! Well, T should say so! They have got the rich-
est creek that was ever heard of!"

"Who found it?'"

"George Carmack."

"The traitor!"  Henderson dropped his pick and sat down, with his
head resting in his hands. The one thought that passed through his
mind was that he would like to have Carmack by the neck.

He then asked, '"Have there been many claims staked over there?"

"Yes, the whole creek is staked from one end to the other,'" was
the reply.

The newcomers did not like Gold Bottom Creek, and soon retraced
their steps. Henderson and his comrades continued their work in a
daze.l®

Magazine, Sept. 1908, pp. 120-121.

Lowden, "The Real Discoverer of Gold in the Klondike," Alaska-Yukon
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2. Bad Luck Continues to Dog Henderson

Earlier in the summer, Henderson had reconnoitered the stream
into which Gold Bottom flows and had found colors yielding 35
cents to the pan. He had staked a discovery claim but had failed
to record it. He now determined to do so. But as he was getting
ready to start, Charles Johnson and Andrew Hunker, veteran pros-
pectors, appeared from downstream. They said they had been look-
ing for Henderson, but had missed the camp and had crossed over
the ridge to another creek, where they found a high reef of bed-
rock and had panned out $25 in coarse gold.

"Yes,'" said Henderson, "I have been over there and found gold
and have staked a discovery claim. Did you see my stakes? I have
been calling that creek Gold Run."

Hunker admitted he had seen the stakes, but he, too, had staked
and wanted the privilege of naming the creek. After some discus-
sion, it was decided to settle the matter by the flip of a coin.
Hunker won.l”

Henderson and his partners continued to work their claim, and
when they closed down for the season, they divided their take, $750,
equally between them. Henderson then started for Fortymile, the
nearest recording office, to register his claims. On his way down
he found that a great number of claims had been staked. When he
reached the mouth of Bear Creek, he ascended that stream and staked
No. 12.

On reaching Fortymile, Henderson felt certain that he had three
claims to register--one each on Gold Bottom, Gold Run, and Bear
Creeks. But, when he rushed into the recording office, he was told
that there was no Gold Run Creek. When he explained its geographic
location, the clerk told him that the stream referred to was Hunker
Creek, named for Andy Hunker, who had recorded the discovery claim.
He was further disappointed to learn that the law had been changed:
no person was allowed more than one claim in the Klondike Mining
District, and that claim must be recorded within 60 days of staking.
Vainly, Henderson protested that when he had staked his claims, the
law had permitted a claim on each creek, with no deadline for record-
ing. The clerk held his ground, and Henderson, allowed only one
claim, chose to stake No. 3 on Hunker Creek.

As he left the office he protested, "I only want my just dues and
nothing more, but those discoveries rightly belong to me and I will
contest them, as a Canadian, as long as I live!"

17

Ibid.
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Heading for Dawson, Henderson planned to spend the winter work-
ing his claim. His leg now began to give him serious trouble, and
he determined to go to St. Michael to see a doctor. The steamer on
which he took passage got no farther than Circle City. There he was
operated upon. In the spring of 1897 he was back at Dawson, but be-
cause of ill health, he was unable to work his claim. When refused

an extension to do his assessment work, he sold his claim for $3,000.

His c¢laim was sold again, within a few years, for $200,000.18

18

Tbid., pp. 121-122; Berton, Klondike Fever, pp. 61-6k.
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Aboard these ships were a number of sourdoughs, who had struck it
rich in the Klondike. As soon as the ice in the Yukon broke up in
June 1897, about 80 prospectors took passage at Dawson aboard the
river steamers Alice and Portus B. Weare. With them, the Klondike
Kings carried hundreds of thousands of dollars in gold dust and
nuggets. At St. Michael, the men had taken passage aboard two
ocean-going vessels, Portland and Excelsior. As Portland was first
to weigh anchor, the majority boarded her. When she lay-to on July
17, at Seattle, the passengers disembarked onto Schwabacher's Dock
to the cheers of 5,000 people. They soon found out why. Excelsior
had made a faster passage back to the states, arriving in San Fran-
cisco on July 15, 48 hours earlier, bringing with it the news of the
Klondike Kings, and the story of their good fortune had swept the
continent.?

The editor of the Seattle Post-Intelligencer, having learned from
the stories carried by the San Francisco newspapers that Portland
was due any moment in Puget Sound, chartered a tug. A number of re-
porters boarded the vessel, which took position off Cape Flattery to
await Portland. The newsmen hailed and boarded the gold ship, and
after securing their stories scrambled back aboard the tug. The tug
sped back into port, and the first of the Post-Intelligencer's three
extras were being hawked by newsboys by the time Portland docked.
The headlines read:

GOLD! GOLD! GOLD! GOLD!
68 RICH MEN ON THE
STEAMER PORTLAND -- STACKS OF

YELLOW METAL!

Correspondent Beriah Brown wrote a by-line that caught the imagina-

tion, "At 3 o'clock this morning the steamer Portland from St. Michael

for Seattle, passed up the Sound with more than a ton of solid gold
aboard."

Brown felt hat to most of his readers "the weight of the gold
dust would be more dramatic than its value." He was correct, Hun-
dreds of other newspapers seized on the words "a ton of gold.'" The
rival Seattle Times listed the weight as one-half ton, but the news-
papers were too conservative. When the gold aboard the ship was to-
taled, it was found that there was at least two tons of gold.?

Berton, Klondike Fever, pp. 96-100.

Tbid., pp. 103-107.
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V. THE_CHILKOOT TRAIL IN 1897

A. The St ede Starts
¢ AR

1. The First Wave

In 1897 the rush to the Klondike began. The cheechakos, as the
newcomers were called, came in two waves. News that gold had been
discovered in the Klondike reached the west coast of the United
States and Canada in the winter of 1896-1897. The Puget Sound cit-
ies were still suffering the after-effects of the panic of 1893,
and many men were out of work. 'Gold" was an electrifying word,
and in the election campaign of 1896 the democratic candidate,
William Jennings Bryan, had sounded a responsive keynote when he
shouted, 'You shall not crucify mankind upon a cross of gold!"

In recent years the production of gold had failed to keep pace
with the population explosion. The demand for the yellow metal
had zoomed as more countries adopted the gold standard. As gold
coins grew scarce they commanded a premium, and people began to
hoard gold. A drop in the gold in circulation was one of the
reasons blamed by economists for the hard times that gripped the
United States. This situation helped swell the number of people
who dreamed of finding their fortune in the Yukon Basin.

By April and May 1897 every ship leaving the area bound for
Alaska was crowded with prospectors. Most of this first wave
went ashore at Dyea, because of all routes leading to the Klon-
dike the one across Chilkoot Pass was the best known. It was
the route used and publicized by Schwatka and Funston. The new-
comers packed across Chilkoot. After reaching Lakes Lindeman and
Bennett, they built boats and anxiously waited for the ice to
break up. Then on to the land of gold, 500 miles downstream, in
their frail craft.!

2. The Second Wave

A second and more numerous wave of humanity started for the
Klondike in late July and early August 1897. This wave was gal-
vanized into action by the arrival of two steamships from St.
Michael--Portland at Seattle, and Fxcelgior at San Francisco.

1

Ella Lung Martinsen, Black Sand and Gold (Portland, 1967), pp. 1lh-

22; Berton, Klondike Fever, p. 101.
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As was to be expected, this news sparked a stampede, the likes of
which the world was not to see again. Men walked off their jobs in
the factory and on the farm, while others closed their stores. The
Seattle Times lost most of its reporters, stevedores and police left
their jobs. Within four days, 12 members of the Seattle police force
had resigned to go to the Klondike. Professional men were just as
eager. W. D. Wood, mayor of Seattle, was in San Francisco at the
time the news broke. Without even returning home, he telegraphed
his resignation, raised $150,000, purchased the steamship Humboldt,
and organized the Seattle and Yukon Trading Company.

Similar situations prevailed in the other cities and towns of
the northwest. Steamship company offices were flooded with requests
for transportation. Every train rolling into Seattle, Portland, Ta-
coma, and Vancouver was jammed with men and a number of women wild
with excitement and eager to start for the Klondike. Merchants in
these cities vied with one another to outfit the adventurers. Ri-
valry between Seattle and Tacoma became bitter, as each sought to
outstrip the other as the port of embarkation for the thousands clamp
oring to go to the Klondike. Guide books were published, describing
in detail, with maps, the routes to the gold fields.

Newspapers featured stories by returning prospectors, in which
they gave advice as to routes and the type of outfits required.
Typical of these interviews was the one secured by Lincoln Steffens,
with Joe Ladue, and published in MeClure'’s Magazine. Ladue had re-
turned to the United States aboard Portland, after 13 years on the
Yukon, and headed for his old home in upstate New York to marry his
lifelong sweetheart. :

Ladue, evidently shaken by the effect the news of his good for-
tune was having on the inexperienced, was cautious. The Mayor of
Dawson City, an honor he had been accorded by the reporters, would
not advise anybody to go to the Klondike. '"It goes pretty hard with
some of the men who go in.' He warned that

lots of them never come out, and not half of those who do
make a stake. The country is rich, richer than any one has
ever said, and the finds you have heard about are only the
beginnings, just the surface pickings, for the country has
not been prospected except Iin gpots, But there are a great
many hardships to go through."

J. Lincoln Steffens, "Life in the Klondike Gold Fields," MeClure's

Magazine, Sept. 1897, p. 959.



As he was familiar with the country and its resources, Ladue
feared that there would be insufficient food at Dawson during the
coming winter, and starvation would haunt the Yukon. Ladue urged
that the adventurers curb their ardor, make plans, and delay their
departure until the spring of 1898. !'From the fifteenth of March
on,'" he told Steffens, "is the time to go.'>

For those going to the Klondike, Ladue suggested that they secure
an outfit consisting of: frying pan, kettle, coffee pot, knives,
forks, and spoons, a drill or canvas tent, axe, hatchet, whipsaw,
two-inch auger, pick and shovel, and ten pounds of nails. For wear
they should have heavy woolens, the stoutest overshoes obtainable,
with arctic socks. The best sled was six or eight feet in length
and six inches in the run. Juneau was the best place to buy a sled.
The lightest and best canoes were found in Victoria, and weighed
from 160 to 200 pounds.

If the cheechako planned to build a boat to descend the Yukon,
he should have, in addition to the enumerated tools and nails, two
pounds of oakum and five pounds of pitch.®

The year's supply of '"grub,' which each prospector was required
by Canadian regulations to bring with him on crossing the border,
could be purchased as cheaply in Juneau as elsewhere. This should
consist of 100 sacks of flour, 150 pounds of sugar, 100 pounds of
bacon, 30 pounds of coffee, 10 pounds of tea, 100 pounds of beans,
50 pounds of oatmeal, 100 pounds of mixed fruit, 25 pounds of salt,
10-dollar's worth of '"spices and knicknacks, and some quinine to
break up colds." This outfit would cost about §200, but Ladue cau-
tioned that no one should start for the Klondike with less than $500.

‘mm o @Gm e s o o e wm =

The easiest way to get to the Klondike, he explained to Steffens,
was to take a ship from the Puget Sound ports to St. Michael. There
passage could be had on one of the river steamers plying the Yukon
during the seven months the river was navigable. But if an individ-
ual wished to rely on his own resources, the route recommended by
Ladue was across Chilkoot Pass.®

In staking a claim, the prospector was governed by Canadian regu-
lations. He must mark off 500 feet along the bed of a stream, where
no one had laid a claim, and put up four stakes with his name on them
one at each corner. Trees would be blazed across the ends. Next,

Tbid. € Tpid., p. 960.

Tbid., pp. 960-961. 8 Ibid., p. 96
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the claim would be registered and a $15 fee paid to the register of
claims. A surveyor would then visit the claim and make a formal sur-
vey. Claims ran about ten to the mile, and were limited only by the
width of the ground between the two '"benches, or hillsides that clos-
ed in the stream.'?

Steffens observed in his article on Ladue that "he was the weari-

est looking man I ever saw.'" This was a prophetic statement, be-
cause Ladue's days were numbered. For the next year, Ladue's name
was a "household word.' He was referred to by the press as '"'the

Barney Barnato of the Klondike'; his picture appeared in advertise-

ments endorsing '""Dr. Green's Nervura Blood and Nerve Remedy'; he

was listed as an author of a book about the Klondike; and news media

carried accounts that he had been named president and managing direc-
tor of the Joseph Ladue Gold Mining and Development Company.

Unfortunately for Ladue, the years on the Yukon had taken their
toll. In 1898, while the great stam?ede he had helped spark was at
its height, he died of tuberculosis.!®

Ladue's words regarding waiting until the spring of 1898, before
starting for the Klondike, came too late for thousands. By July 27
over 1,500 cheechakos had sailed from Seattle. Thousands of others
were clamoring for space aboard the first northbound ship. Every
train that pulled into the city was crowded with gold seekers. Hotels,
flophouses, restaurants, and saloons were jammed. The dockside area
was choked with people and wagons. Circulating through the multi-
tude were steerers hired to bring men to the various outfitting
stores. Similar scenes were being cnacted at Tacoma, Portland, and
Vancouver. !

The Chilkoot Trail in 1897: A Descrtption
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[. From Dyca to Shecp Cam

In 1897, as herctofore, new arrivals at the head of Taiya Inlet
found that their outfits must be lightered ashore. 1In the spring,
when the first wave of prospectors landed, Dyea consisted of the
Indian village and Healy & Wilson's Trading lM'ost. By September

10

Ibid., p. 9673.
Berton, Klondike Fever, p. 109.

Ibid., p. 117,
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three saloons, a hotel and restaurant, and a large tent city had

sprung up along the wagon road leading inland. Meals and lodging

were expensive. The harbor was non-existent, the anchorage poor,

as the water shoaled rapidly from 40 fathoms onto the tidal flats.
A long wharf, which promised better for the future, was soon under
construction.1?

There was a good wagon road from the beach to the first cross-
ing of the Taiya. The bridge which had spanned the glacial stream
at this point had been washed out by a spring freshet and had not
been rebuilt. Supplies were ferried across the Taiya at a charge
of five dollars per ton. The tariff for passengers was 50 cents
each. Above the ferry, the road followed the east bank of the Taiya
for a short distance, when the river was again crossed by a ford.

In the late summer and autumn the water was about knee-deep, but
in the spring a ferry was in operation.!3

At Finnigan's Point, five miles from Dyea, the river was forded
a second time. In September 1897 the width of the Taiya at this
point was about 50 feet and its depth 18 inches. Here there was a
tent camp, a blacksmith shop, saloon, and restaurant, where meals ‘

and lodging could be had.

From Finnigan's Point to the head of canoe navigation, the trail
crossed a glacial moraine and several boggy areas. With a little
effort and some expense, a traveler reported, it could be greatly im-

d lL}’ . . . . h-
proved. At the head of navigation: the Taiya was crossed again, this
time on a foot-log, with a good ford for animals just above the log.1

12 geattle Post-Intelligencer, Oct. 13, 1897; The Dyea Trail, April 9,
1898. Vessels could also be unloaded onto a rocky point about a mile from I
the beach, and the outfits hauled into Dyea in wagons. The town was located
on a flat, with one branch of the Taiya River flowing into Taiya Inlet to

the west and a second branch to the east. I

13 1bid. The Taiya meanders across a heavily timbered bottom, and, ex-
cept during the spring run-off and following a heavy rain, is not very deep

14 During the autumn, Pat Finnigan and his sons corduroyed the trail
from the point to the head of navigation, and sought to collect a toll of
two dollars per horse. The Dyea Trail, April 9, 1898; Berton, Klondike I
Fever, p. 24T,

15 e Indians, when the river was high, could force their cances up l
the Taiya to this point. A number of the prospectors, arriving in the
first wave, hired Indians to transport them and their outfits up the Taiya
to this point. Martinsen, Black Sand and Gold, pp. 19-21. q
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From here to the mouth of the canyon, the trail followed the river
over level terrain.l®

Before entering the canyon, the river was crossed again, this time
on a log bridge. Here a toll was collected.l? The trail then zig-
zagged its way up a steep hillside. Many people considered the next
mile and one-half the worst part of the Chilkoot Trail. The hillside
was heavily wooded, ''the surface rough and covered with decayed vege-
table matter which in spots . . . [was] worked into deep mud by ani-
mals passing over it.'" There were many boulders, with some short,
steep ascents and descents in and out of small gulches. A foreman
and eight men, paid from the proceeds of the tolls, were employed to
keep this section of the trail passable. They had corduroyed the
worst places.l18

Above the canyon, the trail crossed on a bridge to the west side
of the Taiya and entered 'a romantic spot covered with spruce and
cotton-wood trees.'" Here a settlement, known as Camp Pleasant or
Pleasant Valley, was located. After passing through the gloom of
the canyon, it was easy to see how it came by its name. Pleasant
Valley was a good place to stop, as there was good water and plenty
of firewood. Sheep Camp was two miles farther up the trail, where
the traveler again forded the Taiya. Sheep Camp, which was about
1,000 feet above tidewater, was where most of the cheechakos spent
their first night on the Chilkoot Trail. Between this point and
Deep Lake, a distance of 11 miles, there was no timber. The move-
ment of one's outfit between these two points accordingly required
"care and the exercise of good judgement."!? In September 1897
there were at Sheep Camp two restaurants and one gambling saloon.

16 geattle Post-Intelligencer, Oct. 13, 1897; Ogilvie, The Klondike, p. 107.

Fred H. Lysons, Map-Guide: Seattle to Dawson . . .(Seattle, 1897), p. 1lk.
Except when the water was high, during the spring run-off and following
a heavy rain, the Taiya was easily forded. The current was swift, the
water milky colored.

17 seattle Post-Intelligencer, Oct. 13, 1897. Professional packers
were charged one dollar, while miners paid 50 cents for use of the bridge
and the trail beyond.

18 Ibid,; Field Reconnaissance of the Taiya Canyon, Aug. 19, 1969.
During the period, August 19-21, 1969, I made a field reconnaissance of
the Chilkoot Trail. The canyon of the Taiya River is a narrow cleft,
about two miles long and several hundred feet wide.

19 ogilvie, The Klondike, pp. 107-108; Lysons, Map-Guide, pp. 14-15;
Seattle Post-Intelligencer, Oct. 13, 1897.
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2. From Sheep Camp to the Summit

From Sheep Camp to Stonehouse was about one mile, with a rise in
elevation of nearly 600 feet.20

This portion of the trail passed "over a rough surface covered
with immense rocks which by some convulsion of nature have been de-
tached from the mountain side and rolled down to the bank of the
creek.'” Beyond Stonehouse the surface was more regular and the
traveling easier, as one was now above the timber line, and '"out
of the mud which is found on the timbered ground.'" About one-half
mile beyond Stonehouse, Long Hill was ascended, the crest of which
was about 600 feet above Stonehouse.?! From this point, the tra-
veler went down a short incline and up another steep grade to The
Scales. He was now about 3,000 feet above sea level. The Scales
were within three-fourths of a mile of the summit of Chilkoot. At
The Scales a sharp ascent to the summit of nearly 600 feet is com-
menced. In the late summer the ground is covered with scree, which
makes traveling difficult, especially when there is insufficient
snow to cover the ground. After a sleet storm this part of the
route becomes not only difficult but dangerous.??

20 Stonehouse was "an immense square-shaped rock somewhat resembling
a house ", and was named from the fact that it had an overhanging shelf
which afforded some shelter in heavy storms. The Dyea Trail, April ¢, 1898;
1898; Robert C. Kirk, Twelve Months on the Klondike (London, 1899), p. 45.

21 Long Hill bears some resemblance to a whale's back. Many travel-
ers considered the walk up Long Hill as the "most tedious and tiresome

strip of the whole journey--even more so than the summit." Long Hill is
about one-half mile wide and slopes off "right and left toward the moun-
tains, forming on each side a sort of ravine." Many prospectors pitched

their tents and cached their outfits at the foot of Long Hill. Once they
had got all their gear up to this point, they would '"stake a tackle and l
fall on the top of the hill, fasten their sleds to the rope and by .

taking hold of the uphill end, walk down and draw the sled loads up and
continue this until” they had gained the crest. The Dyea Trail, April 9, El
1898; Field Reconnaissance of the Chilkoot Trail, Aug. 20, 1969, E. C. Bear

22 ogilvie, Klondike Guide, pp. 107-108. After a heavy snow the favored
route follows the bed of the Taiya, which has a uniform slope. With the I
advent of warm weather, the snow above Sheep Camp softens, and on a warm
or rainy day is difficult to travel through. Following a cold snap, it
would freeze, and the traveler had to cut steps in the steeper spots.

1
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3. From the Summit to Lake Bennett

The first snow encountered by travelers in the summer is between
the summit and Crater Lake. From the summit to Lake Lindeman, a
distance of 12 miles, there is a descent of about 1,300 feet. The
only steep part of the trail is between the pass and Crater Lake.

The trail followed by the Indian packers kept to the hillsides and
avoided this sharp descent, but did not reach the level of the lake
until a mile farther north. A trail opened by the prospectors bore
directly for the lake, where in the summer and fall of 1897 and 1898
there were boats. By using the ferry a mile of packing could be
avoided. A three and one-half mile portage brought the adventurers
out on Long Lake. Part of this trail is through a ''small box canyon,
where the walking, except on the snow, is hard, on account of boul-
ders." Near the head of Long Lake, 'a small desolate valley opens up,"
which feature, for some reason known but to the men of '97 and '98,
they referred to as Happy Camp. In September 1897 there was still a
little dead timber here, but a traveler reported, '"at its present
rate of consumption this will soon disappear, when the first fuel
will be found at Deep Lake.'?23

Boats were available in the summer of 18597 to provide transpor-
tation three and one-half-miles down Long Lake to the Deep Lake por-
tage. For the individual traveling afoot, on leaving Happy Camp,
the valley narrows again for about one-fourth mile, and at the head
of Long Lake the trail swings sharply to the right and zig-zags up
a granite hogback overlooking the lake. The hogback is followed the
length of the lake, when the trail descends for the portage between
Long and Deep lakes.

Deep Lake could be crossed by ferry, or the traveler could, after
crossing the stream connecting Long and Deep lakes, take the trail
skirting the lake to the north., At the lower end of Deep Lake, the
routes converged, and an easy trail skirts the rim of the canyon over-
looking the stream connecting Deep Lake with Lake Lindeman and the
wild country toward the Coast Mountains. About three-quarters of
a mile from the head of Lake Lindeman a sharp descent is commenced.
In September 1897 there was a large camp at the point where the
trail struck the lake. Here many boats were being built. No meals
or lodging could be had, and a traveler reported, ''"Money has no val-
ue as compared with food."2"

23 7Ibid., p. 108; Seattle Post Intelligencer, Oct. 13, 1897.

24 Seattle, Post-Intelligencer, Oct. 13, 1897; Field Reconnaissance of
Chilkoot Trail, Aug. 20, 1969, E. C. Bearss.
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From the landing at Lake Lindeman, a boat ride would carry the
miner and his outfit about five miles. At the lower end of the
lake a three-quarter mile portage over a high sandy ridge brought
him to Lake Bennett. The remainder of the trip to the Klondike,
when the waterway was open, could be made by boat, although many
chose to take advantage of the portages around Miles Canyon and
the Whitehorse Rapids rather than risking their clumsy craft in
whitewater. In addition, on these narrow, shallow lakes, travel-
ers had to guard against sudden gales, which churned up mountain-

The moving of one's outfit from Sheep Camp to Deep Lake re-
quired planning and the exercise of good judgment. During the
spring, it was usually sledded to The Scales, and from there
packed to the summit, about 1,300 yards. The entire outfit
should be packed from Sheep Camp to the summit of Chilkoot as
rapidly as possible, and cached. 1In caching the outfit, it was
well covered, because a sudden storm might close the pass for
several days. Experienced miners included dry kindling in their

From the summit the outfit could be taken over snow and ice
until open water was reached. Early in the year, this might be
as far as the foot of Lake Marsh or Lake Lebarge.2®

Until mid-May, a miner's outfit was usually transported over
ice and snow on sleds. As March was the most favorable month for
this mode of travel, those wishing to take advantage of this left
Portland and the Puget Sound ports in February.?2’

The prospector was advised to allow about two weeks to move his
outfit from Dyea to the summit. In the spring of 1895, Mr. Sallee
had made the trip from Seattle to the Klondike, by way of Chilkoot
Pass, in 30 days, without dogs, having an outfit of 900 pounds.28

During the summer months, supplies could be freighted by wagons
from Dyea to Finnigan's Point, a distance of five miles. Pack-

56
ous waves capable of swamping their boats.Z?>
4. Getting One's Outfit Across Chilkoot
outfit for use in emergencies.
25 ogilvie, The Klondike, p. 108.
26 Lysons, Map-Guide, p. 15.
27

Ibid., p. 15. 28 1pia.
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horses could be engaged from there to The Scales. Although it was
difficult to get horses over the summit, in the summer of 1897 four
or five sure-footed and experienced pack animals were taken over,
and employed between the summit and Lake Lindeman.

If the horses were all engaged, the cheechako could either pack
his outfit from the summit to Lake Lindeman, about 12 miles, or he
could pack part way and ferry the intervening lakes (Crater, Long,
and Deep), which totaled more than five miles. Many men familiar
with the area considered it a mistake to take pack horses over the
pass, because there was little forage for them on either side of
the summit, and those planning to do so would have to carry fodder.
By the fall of 1897 there were many carcasses lying along the trail,
'""brought about by the neglect of this precaution."

If the prospectors preferred not to use wagons, their outfits
could be freighted in canoes from Dyea to the head of navigation,
about one mile beyond Finnigan's Point. As the Taiya was a swift
and treacherous stream, boating, besides being difficult, involved
possible loss of one's outfit.2?

As to be expected with the attention of the English-speaking
world focused on the Klondike, newspapers, periodicals, and pub-
lishing houses clamorecd to give the reading public what it wanted.
Adventurers who kept journals or had a flair for writing found a
recady market. DPopular newspapers and periodicals made arrange-
ments and dispatched special correspondents into the Yukon Basin.
Consequently, therc is a plethora of primary accounts describing
the trials and tribulations of the stampeders as they scaled Chil-
koot and descended the Yukon to the Klondike. My story of travel
over the Chilkoot Trail in 1896 and 1897, is buased on these jour-
nals and diaries, supplcmented by my observations on a reconnais-

C. Traffic Zooms on the Chilkoot Trail in 1897
SRERIBHRRBPBHBEDNBDBDORDRRBIIRBRDBRDHBRRBRDR
1. The Historic Scene
sance of the Chilkoot Trail in August 1969.
29

[bid., p. 203 Ogilvie, Klondike Guide, p. 108. The first man to

cross Chilkoolt Pass wilh a pack animal was from Seattle. He took a white

mule

4across.

e was loughed at for his folly, but he succeeded and reached

Crater Lake with his animal, which was somewhat cut about the legs, but
otherwise unhurt. Kirk, Twelve Months in the Klondike, pp. 48-L9.
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2. Robert Oglesby Crosses Chilkoot Pass in 1896

1
I

The Cosmopolitan Magazine for September 1897 carried an article
by Robert Oglesby titled, "Account of a Six Months' Trip Through the
Yukon Gold Fields.' Oglesby had boarded a ship bound for the Alaskanl
Panhandle in late May 1896, three months before George Carmack and
his brothers-in-law struck it rich. Booked aboard City of Topeka
were 12 others likewise bound for the Yukon. Oglesby was drawn by l
mutual interest to four Montanans and a young Swede, and they deter-
mined to join forces. 30

The run up the coast to Juneau from Puget Sound took five days.
Disembarking, the six partners bought their outfits at reasonable
prices. Each man's rations consisted of 100 pounds of flour, 50
pounds of bacon, and 25 pounds of beans, along with coffee, sugar,
and several pounds of dried fruit and vegetables. These supplies
were deemed sufficient to subsist the men for two to three months.
At this time the Canadian government had not established the regu-
lation that persons entering the Yukon must bring with them rations
to last for 12 months.

Oglesby and his companions each equipped themselves with two
pairs of extra heavy blankets, along with rubber boots and stout
climbing shoes. When they had added to these their camp equip-
age, boat building tools, prospecting gear, and firearms, they
found that the average weight of "each man's grub-stake was 300
pounds . '3}

For ten dollars apiece, the captain of a small coastal schooner
agreed to transport them to Dyea. With a favorable wind, the ves-
sel made the run from Juneau and up Lynn Canal in 24 hours. When
they landed at Dyea, they found that Sam Herron had taken over as
manager of Healy & Wilson's Trading Post. He had brought in pack-
horses and had improved the trail as far as Sheep Camp. In fact,
the brawny Scotchman had a monopoly of Indians, horses, and any-
thing else a traveler wished. Herron agreed to pack their outfits
to Sheep Camp on his horses and to provide Indians to lug their

gear over the summit to Lake Lindeman for $14 per hundred pounds, 32

Gold Fields," Cosmopolitan Magazine, Sept. 1897, pp. 523-527.

1898"; Harry De Windt, Through the Gold-fields of Alaska to Bering Strait
(New York, 1898), p. 1h. Herron lived in a comfortable cabin, near the
trading post. The horses were pastured on a 20-acre field.

Robert Oglesby, "Account of a Six Months' Trip Through the Yukon

Tbid., pp. 523-52L,

Tbid., p. 42k, The Dyea Trail, "Special Illustrated Edition, August
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The ride up to Sheep Camp was made in one day. Oglesby found
the trail as far as the canyon good, although the Taiya was forded
four times. In the canyon, the trail led along the east side,
"through thick timber, over fallen trees, up and down hill, through
snow-drifts and across numerous small streams." It took eight hours
to reach Sheep Camp, so named ''because of the number of mountain
sheep formerly killed here.'" Nearby were shelters of brush and blan-
kets belonging to the Indians who were to pack their outfits across
Chilkoot. Seated on the ground were a number of young bucks, play-
ing poker, with beans for chips.33

They broke camp next day at 2 a.m. At this hour the crust that
had formed on the snow during the night was hard enough to support
their weight. The Indians fastened their packs on their backs with
cloth straps, the men carrying from 100 to 150 pounds, the squaws
about 70.

When they reached Lake Lindeman in the first week of June they
found it filled with floating ice, all of which disappeared within
72 hours. The timber near the lake was spruce and pine, but of no
great size. The partners were compelled to beat their way back from
the lake several miles to find trees that would square more than six

or eight inches.

After eight days' hard work, they secured 450 feet of six-inch
lumber, which they carried to a mountain stream and made into a
raft. In rafting the timber down to camp, the raft collided with
a large rock, and the prospectors were pitched into the icy water.
They managed to salvage the lumber and built two boats. These
craft were flat-bottomed, sharp at one end, three-foot broad in the
middle, with a depth of two and one-half feet. The oars were hewn
from small trees with axes. Each vessel was fitted with a mast,
having a small wooden pulley wheel at the top, by which a square
sail could be lowered or raised. One sail was made from a canvas
wagon-cover, the other from old pieces of bagging.3l+

While the adventurers worked on the boats, they met and exchanged
gossip with several parties camped nearby. All these groups, ex-
cept one, consisted of prospectors. The exception consisted of four
whiskey smugglers, en route from Juneau to Fortymile and Circle City.

33

Oglesby, "Account of a Six Month Trip Through the Yukon Gold Fields,"

Cosmopolitan Magazine, Sept. 1897, p. 52k.

34

Ibid., p. 525.



They had with them 40 kegs of rotgut, each with a capacity of ten

gallons. They boasted that whiskey costing four dollars a gallon,

including the packing charge., could be geddled to the saloon keep-
5

The boats were completed and loaded by June 13, 1896, and the

J. H. E. Secretan was living in Ottawa in 1897, when news of
the discovery of gold in the Klondike reached the Canadian capital.
A company of adventurers was organized and Secretan elected leader.
No time was wasted in purchasing railroad tickets on the Canadian
Pacific Railroad for Vancouver, British Columbia. Detraining at
Vancouver, Secretan and his company took the ferry to Victoria, a

port of call for most ships on the Puget Sound-Juneau run,3®

- mm ms s o e mf w

On April 15, 1897, passage having been secured on City of Topeka,
Secretan's company boarded the steamer. Secretan would remain in
Victoria to complete the purchase of the expedition's outfit. When I

she sailed from Victoria, the ship carried from 200 to 300 passen-
gers and a deck-load of lumber, as well as other supplies. The only
Canadians aboard, besides Secretan's party, were a detachment of 25
North West Mounted Police en route to duty stations in the Yukon.

Secretan, his business in Victoria completed, sailed for the
land of gold on April 25 aboard the steamer City of Mexico. Dis-
embarking at Juneau at 10 p.m., on the 28th, he rushed ashore to
purchase passage for himself and the supplies to Dyea. He found
that a makeshift fleet--consisting of Rustler, the flagship, and
Gasoline and Alert--were providing transportation from Juneau to

The run up Lynn Canal was uneventful, and Alert anchored at 4
a.m., May 1, off Dyea in six fathoms of water. As the vessel drew
only six feet, he and the other passengers were in a quandary as to
why the captain had dropped anchor so far from shore. A cold wind I
was blowing off the glaciers and snowfields at the head of the val-
ley, and Secretan determined to employ the two Peterborough canoes

60
ers for between $18 and $20 per gallon.
six-man company cast off for Sixtymile.
3. The Canadians Join the Stampede
Dyea. Secretan secured space aboard Alert.37
35 Tpid., p. Lk,
36

J. H. E. Secretan, To Klondyke and Back: A Journey Down the Yukon

from its Source to its Mouth (London, 1898), pp. 1-17.

37

Ibid., pp. 17, 3k. q
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he had purchased in Victoria to get ashore. Assisted by another
passenger, he launched the '"frail barque and tried to make land."
With the tide ebbing, they soon found why Alert had anchored in

6 fathoms. Before they had paddled very far, a sounding showed
that the depth of water was only seven inches. It soon shoaled
to four. They were compelled to disembark and shoulder the can-
oes, and '"march wearily over the long dreary mudflat in the direc-
tion of Healy and Wilson's store."38

At the shore they encountered genial Sam Herron, and their
spirits soared when he pulled out a bottle of whiskey and offered
them a drink. From Herron, Secretan learned the location of his
company's camp. As he walked over to join his companions, he saw
that hundreds had preceded him. At Dyea on May 1, 1897, there were
at least "a thousand people, men, women, chlldren, and unweaned
babies' determined to cross Chllkoot Pass and reach the Klondike.3

Secretan and his men, after the last of their outfit had been
put ashore from Alert, built several small flat-bottomed boats,
15 feet in length. These were loaded with the expedition's gear
and ''dragged'" up the Taiya six miles, to the head of navigation.
Indian packers were then hired at ten cents a pound to 'stagger
over'" a mountain pass with a load on their backs that made one
"tired to look at or pay for." Secretan voiced the opinion that
the packers were ''teetotally unreliable, and will drop your most
precious belongings anywhere, upon the slightest provocation of
another cent from the first stranger he meets. But he is a very
necessary ruffian until the Chilcoot [sic] Pass is abolished."“0

Above The Scales, they saw that an "enterprising capitalist"
had established a crude aerial tramway, the precursor of more
sophisticated ones of the future. He had positioned a wire cable

38 Harry De Windt, an Alaskan explorer, had had a somewhat similar

experience at Dyea. He recalled that his party had been compelled to
wade across the tidal flat for over a mile. As the crowd splashed ashore
from Rustler, it looked "like an invading army. The water . . . is
scarcely knee-deep, but an occasional hole lets one in over the waist,
which adds to the general hilarity of the proceedings but does not im-
prove the temper or the provisions we carry." De Windt, Through the
Gold-Fields, p. 13.

39 gecretan, To Klondyke and Back, pp. 34-36.

40 Tpid., pp. Lk3-Lh.
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to 1ift supplies up the last 600 feet of Chilkoot. The lift was
powered by ''two wretched horses,'" plodding around a circle, "wind-
ing up sleigh-loads of supplies and passengers at one and one-half
cents a pound.' They were told that this man was clearing $150 per

The day Secretan crossed the pass, May 8, it was raining on the
Pacific slope, but by the time they reached The Scales it was snow-
ing. '"With bewildering rapidity the air filled with 'particles of
whirling snow, and in less than five minutes' he could only 'faintly

distinguish the heels of the man immediately ahead . . . which .
42

The summit was no place to linger. A cold wind was howling, and
stacked about were tons of supplies packed to the summit and cached.
Secretan and his company pushed on to Lake Lindeman, the next stop-

4. Ed Lung and Bill Stacey Pack Across Chilkoot

Ed Lung, an unemployed Tacoma accountant, sailed from that city
for Juneau on May 24, 1897, aboard City of Mexico. Stops were made
at Seattle and Victoria to load more passengers and baggage. At
Juneau, the cheechakos thronged ashore, and Lung took advantage of
the opportunity to complete his outfit. The run up Lynn Canal was
made aboard Rustler, '"a narrow, unseaworthy-looking vessel which was
much smaller than the Mexico.'' She was '"loaded to the guards; so
crowded that men had to sleep on boxes, tables, supplies and all

i

While en route up Lynn Canal, the '"old tub" was buffeted by a
gale, but the weather had cleared by the time she reached the head
of Taiya Inlet. Lung and his companions crowded the rail. They
could see the village and the wall of mountains. As they gazed at
the scene, they '"wondered which was the high and treacherous pass
known as Chilkoot. We shivered when we looked at those giant moun-
tains, for we knew we would have to transport our outfits across
this part of the coast range to get into the Klondike.''**

They went ashore in lighters, and Lung joined forces with Bill
Stacey, a tall, husky ex-policeman from Tacoma. After they had
made camp on the west side of the Taiya, Lung crossed the river

62
day off eager cheechakos."“!
were generally on a level" with his eyes.
ping point on the way to the Klondike.“3
over the decks."
b1
by

Ibid., p. k. %2 1pid., pp. L3-Lk, 43 Tpbid., p. L7T.

Martinsen, Black Sand and Gold, pp. 13-16.
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and visited the Indian village. There he succeeded in his efforts
to hire a Chilkoot, Indian Joe Whiskers, to use his "hand-carved,
brightly-painted dugout canoe" to transport their outfits upstream
to the head of navigation, known as Canoe Landing.

It took two days to pole and pull the canoe upstream. As they
ascended the Taiya, the river became swifter. Stacey and the Indian
got out and walked along the bank, pulling on long ropes, while Lung
stood up in the stern, pushing and steering the craft with a long
pole. Indian Joe Whiskers wore a harness around his head and shoul-
ders, known as a "tump line."'*>

At Canoe Landing, Lung and Stacey thanked Indian Joe Whiskers for
his service and paid him in silver. They observed that he was de-
lighted with his bargain, especially as some of the stampeders had
taken advantage of the Indians and had paid them off in Confederate
money . 6

Lung and Stacey divided their outfit into packs of 65 to 75 pounds
each. Two days and a number of trips were required to get all their
gear to Pleasant Valley. From there they pushed on to Sheep Camp
and then The Scales. Caches were established at each of these points,
while they packed their outfit to the next camp. Ed Lung recalled
that the trail from The Scales to the summit was

like climbing an icy stairway to hell!

Our tremendous loads cut into our backs and weighed heavy
against our straining muscles. My seven-foot whipsaw was the
most awkward to carry; but the heaviest and most unwieldy was
my large Yukon sled. Stacey and I each had one, and it was
necessary to carry them on our backs to scale that last thou-
sand feet up the mountain.

Some of the fellows couldn't take it and slid back down
the mountain to The Scales . . . Some even fainted and died
on the trail, but most of us pressed on.“’

By June 13, 1897, Lung and Stacey had packed most of their out-
fit to the summit. On his last trip Lung was felled with ptomaine
poisoning. Overcome with nausea he collapsed, convinced that he
was about to die. An Indian packer carried word of his sickness to

45

Ibid., pp. 17-20. The "tump line" enabled the Indian to exert great

force as he pulled.
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Stacey. It was after dark when Stacey found and revived him with a
powerful shot of pain-killer. Stacey then packed the sleds, and,
after lashing them together, they shot down the north slope and

out onto ice-covered Crater Lake. l

Dawn was breaking as Stacey kindled a fire from wood they car-
ried in their packs. After he had made some coffee and doctored
Lung with several large doses of pain-killer, Stacey returned to
Sheep Camp to get a box of gear he had left with the Indians.“®

By the time Stacey returned, Lung had recovered sufficiently to
travel. The sleds were packed, and they started down the trail. As
they pushed ahead, the trail "showed evidence of hundreds of stam-
peders having recently passed. . . . The snow was ground to a dirty
coffee color and the sun was melting it rapidly. Already, the trail '

A short distance above Long Lake, they found their way tempor- l
arily barred by a crevasse that had opened in the snow bank. Peer-
ing over the edge, Lung saw a man's hat lying on a ledge. If some-
one had fallen into the crevasse it was too late to help, and the
partners, along with a dozen other stampeders, bridged the crevasse J
with one of their sleds, which was first unloaded.

Although the ice on Long Lake was rotten and about to break up, l
they determined to take their chances. With Stacey in the lead, the
cheechakos cautiously inched their way down Long Lake. The next day

they reached Lake Lindeman, a beautiful body of wager "surrounded l
S-”

Ed Lung and Bill Stacey pitched their tent near hundreds of others
and began building a boat. Although it was mid-June, Lake Lindeman '
was still frozen over. It was June 25 before the exultant shout was
raised, '"The ice is clear enough to start!'" By this time they had
finished, with the assistance of two others, a 20-foot, flat-bottomed
boat. The craft was hurriedly loaded, and all jumped in and shoved
off. Within several hours, the surface of Lake Lindeman was ''dotted"
with boats and barges, their bows pointed toward the Klondike.>®

Tbid., pp. 22-26. The pain-killer was about 75 percent alcohol.

64
was mushy, with little rivulets forming."
by snow-peaked mountains and dark-green forest
48
%9 TIbid., pp. 26-36.
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Ibid., pp. 37-41.
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5. The Spurr Party and the Indian Packers

Edward Spurr, unlike the others who crossed Chilkoot Pass in
June 1897, was not motivated by the thought of finding the mother
lode. A scientist, Spurr was employed by the United States Geo-
logical Survey to investigate and report on mineral resources in
the Upper Yukon District of Alaska. Leaving Washington, D. C., in
May 1897, Spurr proceeded to Juneau, where he secured passage for
his party aboard the tug Scrambler. Designed and built for trans-
portation of freight, Serambler had been pressed into passenger
service without ''the formality of making alterations.'" She might
have carried comfortably a dozen passengers, but there were 50 to
60 aboard. Most of them were stampeders. Also aboard were two
men who had contracted to carry the first regularly scheduled mail
into the Yukon District, and a Catholic priest en route to his
mission among the Eskimo, far down the Yukon.%!

It was starting to get dark by the time Scrambler entered Dyea
Inlet. The surf was too heavy to attempt to get ashore, so the
vessel lay-to until morning. After landing, the passengers pitched
their tents near Healy § Wilson's Trading Post.

Spurr headed for the village to make arrangements for packers.
Unlike many whites, he was impressed with the Indians, and reported
that they were "by no means ill-looking people.' The men were
strong and powerfully built. The women were inferior to the men
in looks, and had a habit of painting their faces uniformly black
with a mixture of soot and grease, "a covering which is said to
prevent snow-blindness in the winter and to be a protection in
summer against the mosquitoes.'" Some had painted only the upper
part of their faces, and the black part stopped in a straight line,
giving the effect of a half-mask.°2

At the time Spurr visited their village, the Indians were catch-
ing and drying small fish.%3 After some hard bargaining on the

51 FRdward Spurr, "From the Coast to the Golden Klondike," Outing: The
World's Magazine of Amateur Sports and Recreation, Sept. 1897, pp. 523-52h.

52 Ibid., p. 525. Another traveler reported that while the Chilkoot and
Chilkat were a "fine-looking, well-built race,” they were the "laziest and
most impudent scoundrels I have ever met with." Their once picturesque
dress had been discarded, through association with the white man, and they
now wore tweeds and trousers. De Windt, Through the Gold-Fields, pp. 17-18.

53  gpurr, "From the Coast to the Golden Klondike," Outing Magazine, Sept.
1897, p. 525. These fish were very oily, and when dried could be lighted
at one end and used as candles.
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part of the Chilkoot, Spurr closed a deal with them to pack his
party's gear across the summit. Spurr's people had brought with
them from Juneau lumber with which to build a boat on Lake Linde-
man, but the packers' tariff was so high that it was left on the
beach. Spurr was told that he could purchase lumber at Lake Linde-
man from Rudolph and Marcus, who had packed a steam engine across
the mountains and had established a sawmill and were cutting lumber.

It was late in June when Spurr's party left Dyea. At the mouth
of the canyon, the Taiya was crossed on a fallen log. There was
unexpected trouble at Sheep Camp, when the Indians struck for higher
wages. They claimed that the June sun had softened the snow, mak-
ing the climb more difficult and dangerous. Their demands caused
considerable haggling. Finally, some of the miners, intent on
reaching the land of gold as soon as possible, yielded.

At 3 p.m. the Indian packers moved out. At this season they
preferred to cross the deepest snow between midnight and 3 a.m.
for in those hours a crust formed, which in daytime was softened
by the sun. Their way

soon led us on to a glacier-like field of snow, which often
sounded hollow to our feet as we trod, and at intervals we
could hear the water rushing beneath. The grade became
steep, and the fog closed around us thickly joining with
the twilight of the Alaska June night to make a peculiar
obscurity which gave things a weird ghostly appearance.

Near The Scales they saw a deaf-and-dumb Indian and his squaw
drying their moccasins before a fire kindled from a few stunted
bushes. He explained by signs that the trail was dangerous, and
that it was too dark to see clearly. They waited until midnight
when another packer came up. The rest of the ascent was over snow.

55

Spurr and his men, as they traveled between Crater and Long
Lakes, were plagued by difficulties similar to those encountered
by Lung and Stacey. Occasionally, they ''walked over a stream on
an archway of snow and ice, and . . . trod cautiously along its
banks, while the river broken loose from its covering, ran turbu-
lently between its icy banks.' The upper lakes were frozen, but
the lower ones were covered with knee-deep slush. On several occa-
sions a foot thrust through rotten ice. By the time they reached
Long Lake, the ice had broken up. They were compelled to skirt
the precipitous shoreline. It now began to rain, which changed

54

Ibid., p. 525. 55 Tbid., p. 528.
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first to sleet and then to snow. It was 9 a.m., 18 hours after
they had left Sheep Camp, when they reached Lake Lindeman.>®
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The Indians were paid off. Most of them started immediately
back over the trail, without resting, intending to travel all night
and be in Sheep Camp the next morning.

Spurr had sent one of his men ahead, and he had succeeded in
purchasing a boat. This saved the party about two weeks, the time
estimated to be required to whipsaw lumber and build a craft. The
next morning, after embarking their outfit, they sailed down Lake
Lindeman with a fair wind. 5’

6. Joaquin Miller Travels Light

Colorful Joaquin Miller, the grey-bearded '"Poet of the Sierras,"
a veteran of earlier stampedes, was sent to report on the Klondike
goldrush by William Randolph Hearst. Although he was almost 60
years old, Miller announced, prior to his departure that there was
''no possible chance of famine' and that ''the dangers and hardships
and cost of getting through have been greatly exaggerated.” Miller
boasted that he was traveling light, with little in the way of pro-
visions or equipment--a fact that was to cause him great distress
before 1897 passed into history. >3

Miller sailed from Seattle for Dyea aboard the City of Mexico.
His baggage consisted of a carpetbag, and his available funds totaled
less than $100. It was his intent to walk over Chilkoot Pass, build
a boat, and shoot the White Horse Rapids.>?

It was in mid-August when Miller started up the Chilkoot Trail.
A ground fog enveloped the area on the morning Miller left Sheep
Camp. Suddenly the fog lifted, and looking up the poet-reporter

saw

a splendid example of American manhood! It made my heart
thrill and throb with pride in my great people. We saw .
the brave men climbing with their packs, pike in hand, hold-
ing on with one hand, holding the pike in the other. Sixty
pounds, seventy-five, and one hundred, and in one rare case
a giant French courier with two hundred pounds.

56 Ibid., p. 528. - 57 1pvid4., p. 529.

58  Berton, Klondike Fever, p. 121.

59 Joaquin Miller, "How I Missed Being a Millionaire," Overland
Monthly, Dec. 1897, pp. 518-519.
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We raised a shout, and up the line it ran, the long, steep,
and tortuous line that reached from a bluff above us on and
over and up till it lost itself in the clouds.

- g

Miller now began to climb. It was not as difficult as it appeared
"The stupendous granite mountain, the home of the avalanche and the
father of glaciers, melted away before us as we climbed, and in a
single hour of brisk work, we stood against the summit, or rather
between the big granite blocks that mark the summit.' Although the
climb was not as formidable as some had represented, Miller contin-
ued, '"Yet, mark you, it is no boy's play; no man's play. It is a
man's, and a big strong man's honest work, and takes strength of
body, and nerve of soul."

In the pass and within ten feet of a snow ba